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To be the world leader in shaping. enabling and enhancing the performance of surfaces. Our resgarchers test a naw sturry by
polishing wafers in sur state-of-the-art
) cleanragrt.
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Cabot Microelectronics Corporation, headquartered in Aurora, Iiinois, is the world's leading supplier
of chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) slurries used in semicenductor and data sterage manu-
facturing. Our products play a critical rode in the production of the most advanced semiconductor
devices, enabling the manufaciure of smaller, faster and more complex devices by our customers.

Since becoming an independent public company in 2000, we have grown to nearly 750 employees
who work at research and development labs, sales and business offices, manufacturing facilities and
customer service centers in Ghina, France, Germany, Japan, Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan, the
United Kingdom and the United States.
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In miflions, except per share amounts Years ended September 30, 2006 2005 Change
Revenue $320.8 $270.5 18.6%
inerating income 44.4 438 1.5
Net income 12.9 325 15
Diluted earnings per share o 1.36 1.32 3.0
Tétal assets 4121 386.8 6.6
Stockhalders’ equity 367.8 339.1 85
Eash and short-term investments 165.9 171.0 -3.0
Cash provided by operations 58.7 48.0 22.3
Aftc;r;ax_retum on invested capital B o 15% 17%
Revenue Operating income Diluted earnings Gash provided
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To our shareholiders,
customers, suppliers and
employees:

FISCAL 2006 WAS A STRONG YEAR
of financial and operational perform-
ance for Cabot Microelectronics
Corporation. In addition ta reporting
record revenue of $321 million, we
made several significant investments
and executed a number of iniliatives
to strengthen our leadership in CMP
consumables. and to position our com-
pany for growth in adjacent markets,
We're beginning to see results from
our work over the past few years, and
we enter the new year with the satis-
faction, optimism and confidence that
comes from success. Our goal is con-
tinued, sustainable growth in the vears
ahead and we are confident we can

achieve it.

In addition to reporting record
revenue of $321 million,

we made several significant
investments and executed a
number of initiatives.

From our perspective. our leader-
ship in CMP slurries for the semicon-
ductor industry is clear. In fiscal 2006,
we enhanced that position by bringing
new products to market and strength-
ening our technology and support
capability. We launched a new CMP
pad technology that we believe offers
customers both enhanced performance
and cost advantages over current tech-
nologies. We introduced exciting new
slurry products in each major CMP
application area— copper and harrier,
tungsten. dielectrics and advanced
dielectrics—as well as for data storage
applications. And we opened our Asia
Pacific Technologv Center in Japan.
added our Technical Service Center in

Taiwan and moved our data storage

business to Singapore. Each of these
accomplishments will support ongoing
growth of our business.

Our new product introductions and
facility additions are visible and meas-
urable achievements, and I'm proud
of what we've accomplished. But I am
even prouder of an emerging enthu-
siasm within the company, something
not easily scen by the outside world.
Our teams around the globe have all
played a significant role in developing
and executing our strategies. The
excitement of our achievements in
fiscal 2006 has renewed their energy,
sense of urgency and appetite for even

greater success in the coming vears.

Our teams around the globe
have al} played a significant role
in developing and executing our
strategies. The excitement of
our achievements in fiscal 2006
has renewed their energy, sense
of urgency and appetite for
gven greater success.

To achieve that success, we will
continue to execute the strategic initia-
tives we have been pursuing within
our core CMP consumahles business:
technology leadership, operations
excellence, and connecting with

customers. Our work will be guided

William £, Noglows (left}), Chairman, President and CEQ, and Wiltiam 8. Jehnson, Vice President and CFD

by an emphasis on speed. We know we
can execute faster, and in the coming
vears. we will,

Our initiative of fechnology leader-
ship is key to achieving our goals
because technology drives our custom-
ers’ businesses. CMP materials and
integration schemes are becoming
much more complex. The customiza-
tion required by this increasing com-
plexity. along with rigorous demands
far quality, are causing semiconductor
manufacturers to seek suppliers with
the capability, resources and scale to
meet their needs. Recognizing Cabot
Microclectronics’ technical capabilitv,
experience, scope and breadth as the
best in our industry, customers are
sceking to form deeper and closer tech-
nical and developmental relationships
with us. We believe this clearly demon-
strates that our efforts to strengthen
technology leadership—our company’s
legacy —are providing value for cus-
tomers and future growth opportunities
for the company.

To build on our technology leader-
ship, we have developed a robust new
product pipeline. In doing so. we have
also created a significantly more offi-
cient cross-functional commercializa-
tion process that encompasses emerg-
ing technologies and materials, process
development and product development.
We are pleased with our technical
achievements in the past year, and we
will continue to change and evolve as
OUr customers require.
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Succeeding in today’s environment
means suppliers of technology to the
semiconductor industry must provide
highly predictable solutions to increas-
ingly complex customer needs. We
believe the quality. reliability and con-
sistency of our products are recognized
competitive advantages and contribute
value to our customers. Thus. we have
set very high goals as we conlinue to
focus on reducing variation under our
operations excellence initiative. A few
yoars ago. we embraced the concepts of
Six Sigma. hiring leaders with extensive
experience in the process and its tools,
and training our emplovees. At Cabot
Microelectronics, the Six Sigma culture
is real, it is powerful, and it is changing
our company.

We believe the quality, reliability
and consistency of our products
are recognized competitive
advantages and contribute value
to our customers.

The third initiative within our core
CMP business is connecting with
customers. We took several critical
steps in fiscal 2006 to bring our capa-
bilitics physically closer to our cus-
tomers, particularly in the Asia Pacific
region. We now have new laboratories
in Japan, Taiwan and Singaporo that
provide the capability to support our
customers more rapidly and reliably.
In addition, we hegan selling directly
to customers in Taiwan, our largest
regional market. Even though the tran-
sition had a short-term adverse finan-
cial impact in our second fiscal quarter.
it wag important in fulfilling our goal
to be close to our cusiomers. Along the
way, we strengthened local teams of
highly capable and energetic employees

dedicated to serving our cuslomers.
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We have been making other changes
{0 meet the demands of our customers
as well. We adjusted our operating
maodel to give far more autonomy and
accountability to our regional organiza-
tiong, and are reshaping our headquar-
ters in [llinois to concentrale on core
platform technology research, develop-
ment and support. Qur goal is to have
very sirong local teams deploved to
address specific customer opportuni-
ties. supparted by the global breadth
and experience of all of Cahot
Microelectronics. We believe our
ability to leverage global experience
and knowledge of all technology nades
and applications and apply this locally
is unique, and we intend to use this
ability to its fullest potential.

Most of our focus is on our core
CMP business, both slurries and pads.
for the semiconductor industry. But
we also seck growth by leveraging our
expertise in CMP formulation. materials
and polishing techniques {or the semi-
conducior industry to address other
demanding market applications requir-
ing sub-nanometer control of surface
and finish. Our objective is to improve
performance and productivity by
enhancing the finishing process. We
sec possibilities in areas ranging from
optics to healthcare, and from aero-
space to compound semiconductors,
to name just a few. This year, we
made two important steps under our
Engincered Surface Finishes (ESF)
growth initiative by successfully
completing two acquisitions: Surface
Finishes Company, a small company
that specializes in precision machining
and polishing techniques at the
sub-nanometer level, and QED Toch-
nologies, a precision optics technology
company. These acquisitions comple-
ment our ongoing internal business
and technology development effarts.
and are introducing us to new tech-
nologies and new industries, with
channels to new markets. We look for-
ward 1o building on their capabilities
as well as looking for other acquisitions
in pursuit of our ESF initiative.

Our core CMP business is solid
and vibrant, and we believe our
business development activities
promise an exciting future.

We begin fiscal 2007 with momen-
tum and optimism. Our core CMP
business is solid and vibrant, and we
helieve our business development
activities promise an exciting future.
Our three-vear business plan targets
revenue of $500 million in fiscal 2009,
with net income growing to 12 percent
of revenue during this period. We
intend to achieve these targets by
growing our core CMP slurry business
faster than the market, building our
CMP pad business, and successfully
implementing our ESF initiative. I am
aptimistic that the strong foundation
wit have built, along with our emerging
culture that thrives on winning, will
allow us to achieve our targets.

This is an exciling time in our
industry. Technology is reaching new
levels of complexity. Customers
require increasingly intricate solutions
to their design needs. while at the
same time they demand more exacting
standards for quality and consistency.
We are proud of our achievemenis in
the last vear to enhance our leadership
in CMP consumables and we will
continue to work for sustainable. long-
term growth,

We thank you for your support of

aur company.

Sincerely.

William P. Noglows /“

Chairman, President and CEQ

e

———

—— e —y—



:ﬂh_'o( 1.

ik

Cabot Microelectronics is the world’s
leading supplier of chemical mechanical
planarization (CMP) polishing slurries
to the semiconductor industry.
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Growing the business

In addition to growing our core CMP business,
we are exploring how we ean use our expertise
in perfecting surfaces at a sub-nanomeler level
to improve performance or increase productivity
in greas adjacent fo the semiconducter industry
through our Engineered Surfaces Finishes (ESF)
growth initiative.

8 CMC 2006

In fiscal 2006, we purchased Surface
Finishes. a small, state-of-the-art
mechanical finishing company that
provides a window into new market
opportunities and customers with
demanding finishing needs. We also
made a larger acquisition when we
purchased QED Technologies, whose
unique and proprietary technology for
finishing high-precision optics is help-
ing to automate that indusiry. These
acquisitions complement our ongoing
internal development efforts.

Success in our ESF inijtiative will
require technical expertise, business
acumen and stralegic thinking. We're
excited by the prospects because we
have those skills... the skills of a leader.
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PART |

[tem 1. Business

Qur Company

Cabot Microelectronics Corporation ("Cabot Microelectronics’]
“the Company’, “us” “we’; or “our”), which was incorporat-
ed in the state of Delaware in 2000, is the leading supplier of
high-performance polishing slurries used in the manufacture
of advanced integrated cireuit (IC) devices within the semi-
canductor industry, in a process called chemical mechanical
planarization (CMP). CMP is a process that polishes surfaces
at an atomic level, thereby enabling IC device manufacturers
to produce smaller, faster and mare complex IC devices with
fewer defects.

We opoerate predominantly in one industry segment —the
development, manufacture and sale of CMP slurries. Our
CMP products are used for a number of applications, such
as polishing insulating dielectric layers, tungsten that is used
to connect the multiple wiring layers of IC devices through
these insulating layers, and copper wiring, including the
associated barrier film. In addition, we are developing and
commercializing CMP polishing pads. which are used in
conjunction with slurries in the CMP process.

In addition 1o expanding our core business in the semi-
conductor industry, we also are beginning to grow our busi-
ness through our engineered surface finishes (ESF) initiative.
We believe we can leverage our expertise in CMP slurry
formulation, materials and polishing techniques and apply it
to demanding surface modification and fine finish polishing
applications in other industries where shaping, enabling and
enhancing performance is critical to success. For example,
we develop, manufacture and sell CMP slurries for polishing
certain components in the hard disk drive industry, specifi-
cally rigid disk substrates and magnetic heads, and we believe
we are one of the leading supplicrs in this area. In addition
to growing internally, we also are expanding through acqui-
sitions such as our July 2006 acquisition of substantially
all of the assets and assumption of certain liabilities of QED
Technologies, Inc. (QED), a privately-held company that spe-
cializes in unique, patented polishing and metrology systems
for fabricating high precision optics. Metrology systems
measure surface finish, shape and performance of the optic.
Further, in October 2005 we acquired substantially all of the
assets and assumed certain liabilities of Surface Finishes Co.,
Inc. (“Surface Finishes”), a privately-held company that
specializes in precision machining techniques at the subnano-
meter level on prolotype or production components such
as mirrors for oplical imaging and scanning, air bearings,
optical disc molds, large area reference surfaces and custom

gauging.

IC device manufacturing

An advanced IC device is composed of millions of transis-
tors and other electronic components connected by miles of
wiring. The wiring, composed primarily of either aluminum
or copper, carries electrical signals through the multiple
lavers of the IC device. Insulating material is used through-
out the IC device to electrically isolate the electronic compo-

2 CMC 2006

nents and the wiring. To enhance performance, 1C device
manufacturers have progressively increased the number and
density of transistors and other electronic components in
each IC device. Consequently. the number of wires and the
number of discrete layers have also increased.

The multi-step manufacturing process for IC devices typi-
cally begins with a circular wafer of pure silicon. A large
number of identical IC devices, or dies, are manufactured on
each wafer at the same time. The first step in the manufac-
turing process builds transistors and other electronic compo-
nents on the silicon wafer. These are isolated from each
other using a layer of insulating material, most often silicon
dioxide, to prevent electrical signals from bridging from
one transistor to another. These components are then wired
together using either aluminum or copper in a particular
sequence to produce a functional IC device with specilfic
characteristics. When the wiring on one layer of the IC device
is completed, another layer of insulating material is added.
The process of alternating insulating and wiring layers is
repealed until the desired wiring within the IC device is
finished. At the end of the process, the wafer is cut into the
individual dies, which are then packaged to form individual
chips.

The percentage of IC devices that utilize CMP in the
manufacturing process has increased steadily over time as
semiconductor technology has advanced and performance
requirements of IC devices have increased. We believe that
CMP is used in just over half of all IC devices made today.
and we expect that CMP will be used more extensively in the
future as manufacturers continue to shrink the size of devices.

IC devices can generally be segmented into either logic
or memory devices. Logic devices include chips such as
microprocessors, digital signal processors, microcomponents
and microcontrollers. These are normally computing-inten-
sive devices that need to perform large numbers of processing
steps every second. Advanced logic chips use copper wiring
to provide increased processing speed because copper wiring
has lower electrical resistance than aluminum wiring: alu-
minum wiring is generally used in chips that do not require
this speed, such as logic devices of older technology. because
it is more cost-effoctive than using copper wiring. Memory
devices, which include flash, DRAM and SRAM chips, func-
tion by reading, storing and writing data. Traditionally this
segment has been highly cost sensitive and processing speed
is not as critical as in logic devices. Therefore, memory
devices tend to use aluminum wiring.

CMP process and benefits

CMP is a polishing process used by IC device manufacturers
to planarize or flatten many of the multiple layers of material
that are built upon silicon wafers in the production of
advanced IC devices. In this polishing process, CMP slurries
and pads are used to level. smooth and remove excess mate-
rial from the surfaces of these layers via a combination of
chemical reactions and mechanical abrasion, while leaving




minimal residue or defects on the surface and leaving only
the material necessary for circuil integrity. CMP slurries are
liquid solutions generally composed of high-purity deionized
walter, proprietary chemical additives and engineered abra-
sives that chemically and mechanically interact with the
surface material of the 1C device at an atomic level. CMP
pads are engineered polymeric materials designed to distrib-
ute and transport the slurry to the surface of the wafer and
distribute it evenly across the wafer. During the CMP process
the wafer is typically held on a rotating carrier, which is
pressed down against a rotating polishing table and spun
in a circular motion. The portion of the table that comes in
contact with the wafer is covered by a textured polishing
pad. A CMP slurry is continuously applied to the polishing
pad to facilitate and enhance the polishing process. Hard
disk drive manufacturers use a process similar to this 1C
CMP process to smooth the surface of substrate disks before
depositing magnetic media.

The characteristics that are important for an effective
CMP process include:

s High polishing rates, which increase productivity and
throughput;

m Sclectivity, which is the ability to enhance the polishing
of specific materials while at the same time inhibiting the
polishing of other materials;

m Uniform planarity, which minimizes unevenness as
different layers are built on the wafer;

m Uniformity of polishing, which means that different
surface malerials can be polished to the same degree
at the same time across the wafer, leading to uniformity
of all dies on the wafer;

m Low defectivity, which means that the devices have fewer
imperfections and therefore produce higher yield: and

w Cost, because it is important for users to minimize their
cost of manufacturing.

These attributes may be achieved through technical opti-
mization of the CMP slurry and pad in conjunction with an
appropriately designed CMP process. Prior to introducing
new or different CMP slurries into its manufacturing process,
an IC device manufacturer generally requires the product
to be qualified in its processes through an extensive series
of lesls and evaluations. These qualifications are intended
to ensure that the product will function properly in the man-
ufacturing process, as well as to optimize its application.
These tests may require changes to the CMP process or the
CMP slurry. While this qualification process varies depend-
ing on numerous factors, it is generally quite costly and may
take six or more months to complete. IC device manufacturers
usually take the cost, time delay and impact on production
into account when they consider implementing or switching
to a new CMP slurry or supplier.

CMP enables IC device manufacturers lo produce smaller,
faster and more complex IC devices with fewer defects and
a greater density of transistors and other electronic compo-

nents than was previously possible. CMP provides the near
perfectly smooth and flat surface required to create the
associated intricate wiring patterns. By enabling IC device
manufacturers lo make smaller IG devices, CMP also allows
them to increase the number of IC devices that fit on a wafer.
This increase in the number of IC devices per wafer in turn
increases the throughput, or the number of IC devices that
can be manufactured in a given time period, and reduces

the cost per chip. CMP also helps reduce the number of defec-
tive or substandard IC devices produced, which increases
the device yield. Improvements in throughput and yield
reduce an IC device manufacturer’s unit production costs,
and reducing costs is one of the highest priorities of a semi-
conductor manufacturer because return on its significant
investment in manufacturing capacity can be enhanced by
lower unit costs. More broadly, sustained growth in the
semiconductor industry traditionally has been fueled by
lower unit costs that have made IC devices more affordable
in an expanding rango of applications.

Precision polishing processes and benefits

Through our ESF initiative, we are applving our technical
expertise in CMP slurry formulation, materials and polishing
techniques to demanding surface modification and fine fin-
ish polishing applications in other industries where shaping,
enabling and enhancing performance of surfaces is critical to
success. We believe we can deliver improvements in produc-
tion economics, figure precision and surface finish (smooth-
ness and texture) for a variety of difficult-to-polish materials,
potentially enabling the use of these materials in higher-
value applications.

In addition, many of the production processes currently
used in precision machining and polishing have been based
on traditional, labor-intensive techniques, which are being
replaced by computer-controlled, deterministic processes.
Our CMP technology may help to accelerate this transition
to automated processes in several areas by providing
consistent, rapid results.

Our products
> CMP slurries and polishing pads for IC devices
We develop and produce CMP slurries of various formula-
tions for a wide range of polishing applications including
tungsten and dielectric materials, which currently represent
the most common use of CMP in IC device manufacturing.
Slurries for polishing tungsten and dielectrics are used
primarily in memory devices and older generation logic
devices. Dielectric slurries are used in inter layer dielectric
{ILD) applications, which represent the more mature and cost-
sensitive part of the CMP business, as well as in advanced
dielectric applications, which require higher performing
solutions such as those used for pre-metal dielectric and
direct shallow trench isolation applications.

We also develop and manufacture slurry products for
polishing copper. which is used primarily in the wiring of
advanced IC logic devices to provide increased processing
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speed because copper wiring has lower electrical resistance
than aluminum wiring. These products include differont
slurries for polishing the copper film, as well as for the thin
barrier metal layer used to separate copper from the adjacent
insulating material. We have multiple products to enable
different integration schemes depending on specific customer
needs and for a range of technology nodes.

We are currently developing and commercializing CMP
polishing pads utilizing our own and licensed technology.
CMP polishing pads are consumable materials used in the
CMP process that work in conjunction with CMP slurries
to facilitate the polishing process, as described above. We
helieve that CMP polishing pads represent a natural adjacency
to our CMP slurry business, and that there is value in
co-developing slurries and pads to achieve technically
optimized CMP solutions.

> CMP slurries for the data storage industry

We develop and produce CMP slurries for polishing the
coating on rigid disks as well as magnetic heads in hard disk
drives, which represents an extension of our core CMP slurry
technology and manufacturing capabilities established for
the semiconductor industry. We believe CMP significantly
improves the surface finish of these coatings, resulting in
greater storage capacity of the substrates, and also improves
the production efficiency of manufacturers of hard disk
drives by helping them increase their throughput and yield.

> Precision optics products and services

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, QED, we design and
produce precision polishing equipment for advanced optics
applications that allows customers to attain near-perfect
shape (figure) and surface (finish} on a range of optical devices
such as mirrors, lenses and prisms. Historically, advanced
optics havoe been produced using labor-intensive processes
so0 variability is common. QED has crealed an automated
polishing system that enables rapid. deterministic and
repeatable surface correction to the most demanding levels
of precision and surface finish in dramatically less time
than with traditional means. The machine uses Magneto-
Rheolegical Finishing, QED's proprietary surface figuring and
finishing technology, which employs magnetic fluids and
sophisticated computer technology to polish a variety

of shapes.

Fabrication of high quality, advanced optics is often
hampered by the lack of accurate and affordable metrology.
For example, interferometers, which measure the surface of
an optic, traditionally are limited by the size and precision
of the reference optic used. QED has developed a Subaperture
Stitching Interferometry (SSI) workstation that enables the
automatic capture of precise metrology data for large and/or
strongly curved optical parts and gives the user a complete
map of the optical surface. The SSI workstation measures
portions of large optical parts, and digitally “stitches” these
portions together into a single complete surface map. This
map is needed to produce high precision optics to exacting
tolerances.
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Industry trends

The semiconductor industry has experienced rapid growth
over the past three decades, but it has also been cyclical. In
our early history as an independent entity, our revenue grew
despite the protracted semiconductor industry downturn
from 2001 to 2003, primarily because CMP was used in

only the most advanced IC devices and the most advanced
technology continued to grow even though the overall semi-
conductor industry contracted. Since CMP has become more
broadly used within the IC industry, the semiconductor
industry downturn in fiscal 2005 affected us, and we believe
this downturn contributed to our revenue decline in that
vear. The semiconducter industry recovered moderately in
fiscal 2006.

As we enter fiscal 2007, and semiconductor technology
continues to advance, we believe that CMP technical solutions
are becoming more complex, and leading-edge technologies
now often require some customization by customer, tool
set and process integration approach. Leading-edge device
designs ase introducing more materials and processes into
next generation chips. Further, as CMP technology has
matured, we believe that semiconductor manufacturers’
processes have become highly sensitive to CMP slurries,
and customers now demand a high level of consistency and
quality in CMP slurry products. Also, as CMP technology
advances, customers are selecting suppliers much earlier
in their development processes.

On a geographic basis, the Asia Pacific region continues
to be the fastest growing region for IC manufacturing, as well
as for our business, and we expect this trend to continue.
We anticipate the worldwide market for CMP consumables
used by 1C device manufacturers will grow in the future as
a result of expected increases in the number of IC devices
produced, the percentage of IC devices produced that require
CMP, the number of CMP polishing steps used to produce
these devices and new materials used in semiconductor
devices. We believe that the increased emphasis on memory
technology and the incorporation of advanced logic and
memory products into digital consumer devices will continue
lo be a key growth driver in the industry over the long term
and will parallel the industry’s traditional emphasis on
microprocessors for computing applications.

We expect this anticipated growth will be somewhat miti-
gated by increased efficiencies in CMP slurry usage, driven
by pressure on IC manufacturers to reduce costs, including
the costs of the CMP process. For example, historically the
semiconductor industry has migrated to increasingly larger
walfers to manufacture chips. The predominant wafer size
used for volume production today is 200 mm, or cight-inch,
walers, but a substantial number of new semiconductor
manufacturing facilities (“fabs”) being built use 300 mm,
or 12-inch, wafers to gain the economic advantages of a larger
surface area. IC manufacturers use more CMP slurry on a
300 mm watfer, but use less slurry per device produced,
However, we believe that the lower cost of the devices due
to the economies of 300 mm manufacturing will spur addi-




tional growth of these devices due to grealer affordabilily,
consistent with past industry transitions to larger wafer sizes.
Qur recent QED acquisition introduces us lo the precision
optics industry. We believe precision optics are pervasive,
have new application growth potential and serve several
existing large and growing markets such as semiconductor
equipment, aerospace, defense, security and telecommuni-
cations. The precision optics industry appears to be transi-
tioning from labor-intensive, artisan production methods for
optical components to computer-controlled. deterministic
production of high precision optics. The industry is also
characterized by the need for higher precision in surface
figure and finish, as well as a historical lack of significant
advancements in state-of-the-art polishing methods.

Strategy
We believe our core competencies lie in our ability to shape,
enahble and enhance the performance of surfaces at an atomic
level, as well as our ability to consislently and reliably
deliver and support products around the world that meet
our customers' specifications. We intend to utilize these
capabilities to strengthen and grow our core CMP business
within the semiconductor and hard disk drive industries,
and also to leverage our expertise in CMP process and slurry
formulation into other technically demanding polishing
applications that are synergistic to our core CMP slurry and
pads businesses.

As we strengthen and grow our business, we intend to
continue to implement the fullowing strategic initiatives:

> Technology leadership

We believe that technology is vital to success in our CMP
consumables and ESF businesses and we plan to continue
to devate significant resources to research and development.
We need to keep pace with the rapid technological advances
in the semiconductor industry so we can continue to deliver
a full line of CMP slurry products, over a range of technolo-
gies, that meet or exceed our customers’ evolving needs. In
October 2005 we openced our Asia Pacific technology center
in Geino, Japan, which includes a clean room and provides
polishing, metrology and product development capability

to support our customers in the Asia Pacific region. Also,
we built a technical service center in Taiwan with slurry
formulation capability to provide expertise to our customers
there: this technical service center acts as an extension of
our Asia Pacific technology center, In addition, we moved
our data storage laboratlory to Singapore.

> Operations excellence

Our customers demand increasing performance of our prod-
ucts in terms of product quality and consistency and expect
a highly reliable supply source. We belicve the capacity and
the location of our production facilities in the United States,
Asia and Europe give us a competitive advantage in provid-
ing a dependable and predictable supply chain fo mest our
customers’ CMP slurry and pad requirements in a consistent
and timely manner. We believe that this ability to support a
number of leading-edge customers with assurance of supply

for business continuity is unique. We intend to continue

to advance our strict quality systems in order to improve the
uniformity and consistency of performance of our CMP
products. To support our operations excellence initiative,
we have adopted the concepts of Six Sigina across our
Company; Six Sigma is a systematic, data-driven approach
and methodology for improving quality by reducing variabil-
ity in processes. We have made productivity and efficiency
gains through this program in fiscal 2005 and 2006, and
expect more in fiscal 2007. We also have extended our Six
Sigma initiative to include joint projects with customers.

> Connected with customers

We believe that building close relationships with our cus-
tomers ts another cornerstone for long-term success in our
husiness. We work closely with our customers to identify
and develop new and better CMP consumables, to integrate
our products into their manufacturing processes, and to
assist them with supply, warehousing and inventory man-
agement. We have devoted significant resources to enhanc-
ing our close customer relationships and we are committed
to continuing this effort. We believe that we are unique in
our ability to support a number of leading-edge customers
through business scale in CMP consumables.

We also believe in locating our employees in the same
geographies as our customers. As more of our business shifts
to the Asia Pacific region, we have reinforced our customer
commitment with our Asia Pacific technology center in
Geino, Japan, which we believe enhances our ability to pro-
vide optimized CMP solutions to our customers in this region.
We built a technical service center in Taiwan for slurry for-
mulation capability for our customers there. In April 2006
we began selling directly to cuslomers in Taiwan, rather than
through a distributor, in order to better serve them. In addi-
tion, we moved the portion of our business that serves the
hard disk drive market to Singapore, because Southeast Asia
is an important manufacturing region for a number of partic-
ipants in this industry. By next year, we plan to add addi-
tional pad manufacturing capability in Taiwan and are
exploring alternatives to add slurry manufacturing capabili-
ties there as well. All of these initiatives represent our belief
that by working closely with customers at a local level we
can leverage our global knowledge to their benefit.

> Engineered surface finishes initiative

In addition to strengthening and growing our core CMP
business, we also are leveraging our CMP experience and
technology developed for the semiconductor industry to
explore new applications and products to diversify and grow
our business in other demanding applications in which we
believe our technical ability to shape, enable and enhance
the performance of surfaces at an atomic level may provide
improved productivity or previously unseen surface per-
formance. Our slurries for data storage polishing applica-
tions represent one example, and we are also pursuing
opportunities in optics, optoelectronics, flat panel displays
and metal finishing.
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In pursuit of this initiative, we are supplementing our
internal development efforts with some externally acquired
technologies and businesses. For example, in October 2005
we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed cer-
tain current liabilities of Surface Finishes, which was a pri-
vately-held company established in 1949 that specializes
in precision machining techniques at the sub-nanometer level.
This acquisition provides us with commercial finishing
capabilitics that we expect will present opportunities lo
facilitate the introduction of our internally developed tech-
nology to customers beyond the semiconductor industry,
and afford access to a variety of markets that benefit from
precision surface finish, but that we do not currently serve.

In July 2006 we acquired substantially all of the assets,
including certain associated proprietary technology and
intellectual property, and assumed certain current liabilities
of QED. QED was a privately-held company that specializes
in unique, patented polishing and metrology systems for
shaping and polishing high precision optics. The optics
industry shares a number of attributes with the semiconductor
market: the value of precise surface finish; employing some
of the same materials like silicon and aluminum; and some
overlap in customer base because photolithography equip-
ment and optical inspection equipment for semiconductor
and flat panel displays rely on the kind of precision optics
enabled by QED’s technology.

Customers, sales and marketing

Within the semiconduclor industry, our customers are pri-
marily producers of logic IC devices, producers of memory
IC devices and IC foundries. Often, logic and memory
companies outsource all or a portion of the production of
physical devices to foundries, which provide contract
manufacturing services, in order to avoid the high cost of
constructing and operating a fab or in cases where they need
additional capacity.

Our sales process begins long before the actual sale of our
products and occurs on a number of levels. Due to the long
lead times from research and development to product
commercialization and sales, we have fundamental research
teams who collaborate with customers on emerging applica-
tions years before the products are required by the market.
We also have development teams who coordinate with our
customers, using our research and development facilities
and capabilities to design CMP products tailored to their
precise needs. Next, our applications support teams work
with customers to integrate our products into their manufac-
turing processes. Finally, as part of our sales process, our
logistics and sales personnel provide supply, warchousing
and inventory management to our customers. Through our
interactive approach, we are able to build close relationships
with our customers in a variety of areas.

We market our products primarily through direct sales to
our customers. In the past, we also have relied to varying
degrees on distributors. However, over the last few years we
have reduced the number of resellers that distribute our
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products in situations where we have had sufficient business
scale to support direct sales and where we have scen strate-
gic benefit. For example, in April 2006 we began selling our
products directly to customers in Taiwan rather than through
Marketech. an independent distributor, although we still use
Marketech to distribute our products in China. We believe
this strategy is one way we can achieve our goal of staying
connected with our customers.

In response to significant growth in the IC device manu-
facturing industry in Asia, we have implemented the follow-
ing initiatives:

m Increased the number of sales and markeling, technical
and customer support personnel in the Asia Pacific region;

@ ‘Iransitioned to selling directly to customers in Taiwan,
rather than through a distributor. as discussed above;

m Opened our Asia Pacific lechnology center, which includes
a clean room and provides polishing, metrology and
product development capability to support owr customers
in this region;

@ Built a technical service center in Taiwan for slurry for-
mulation capability for our customers there, as an exten-
sion of our Asia Pacific technology center: and

m Relocated the portion of our business that serves the hard
disk drive market to Singapore, because Southeast Asia
is an important manufacturing region for a number of
participants in this industry.

Our QED subsidiary supports customers in the semicon-
ductor equipment, aerospace, defense, security and telecom-
munications markets, and counts among its worldwide
customers leading precision optics manufacturers and the
United States government. QED has strived to maintain a
sustainable and loyal customer base.

In fiscal 2008, our five largest customers accounted for
approximately 44% of our revenue, with Marketech and
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company {TSMC)
accounting for approximately 19% and 10% of our revenue,
respectively. Effoctive April 2006, with our transition to
direct sales in Taiwan, we began selling directly to TSMC,
our largest end customer, and other customers in Taiwan
rather than through Marketech. For additional information
on concentration of customers, refer to Note 2 of “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Item 8
of Part 11 of this Form 10-K.

Competition
We compete in the CMP consumables industry, which is
characterized by rapid advances in technology and demand-
ing product quality and consistency requirements. We face
competition from other CMP consumables suppliers, and we
also may face competition in the future from significant
changes in technology or emerging technologies.

We believe that customers make supplier decisions based
an three factors, in this order of priority: first, product pes-
formance; second, supply assurance, including the ability




to reliably deliver a high level of consistency and quality

in CMP slurry products; and third, product price. We believa
that rapid incorporation of CMP technology and growth of
the CMP industry, combined with our customers’ desires lo
gain purchasing leverage and lower their cost of ownership,
have led to greater competitive activity among, and pricing
pressure on, CMP slurry suppliers.

Qur competitors range from small companies that com-
pete with a single product and/or in a single geographic
region to divisions of global companies with multiple lines
of IC manufacturing products. However, we believe we have
mare CMP slurry business than each of our competitors.

In our view, we are the only CMP slurry supplier today that
serves a broad range of customers by offering and supporting
a full line of CMP slurry products for all major applications
over a range of technologies, and that has a proven track
recard of supplying these products globally in high volumes
with the attendant required high level of technical support
services. We intend to continue to invest in our extensive
manufacturing and technological infrastructures, which

we believe give us a competitive advantage and allow us

to deliver the supply assurance that is important to our
customers.

Our QED subsidiary operates in the precision optics indus-
try. There are few direct competitors for QED’s technologies
because they are relalively new and unique. We believe
the main alternative to QED's technology is non-adoption
and continued reliance on traditional artisan-based methods
of surface finishing.

Raw materials supply

Fumed metal oxides. such as fumed silica and fumed
alumina, are significant raw materials we use in many of our
CMP slurries. In an effort to mitigate our raw materials sup-
ply risks, we have entered into multi-year supply agreements
with a number of suppliers for the purchase of raw materials,
including agreements with Cabot Corporation for the pur-
chase of certain amounts and types of fumed silica and
fumed alumina. For additional information regarding these
agreements, refer to “Tabular Disclosure of Contractual
Chbligations”, included in “Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulls of Operations’,
in Item 7 of Part II of this Form 10-K. In the interest of
supply assurance, our stralegy is to secure multiple sources
of raw materials and qualify those sources as necessary to
ensure our supply of raw materials remains uninterrupted.

Research, development and technical support

We believe that technology is vital lo success in the CMP
business as well as in our other initiatives, and we plan to
continue to devote significant resources to research and
development, and balance our efforts between the shorter-
term market needs and the longer-term investments required
of us as the technology leader.

Our technology efforts are currently focused on four
main areas:

a Research related to fundamental CMP technology:

s Development and formulation of new and enhanced
CMP slurry and pad products;

m Process development to support rapid and effective
commercialization of new products; and I

m Evaluation of new polishing applicaticus outside of the
semiconductor industry.

We invest in fundamental CMP technology and materials
rescarch, in order to be prepared to meet the dynamic needs
of advanced technology, investing well in advance of the
market need bocause there are long lead times from research
and development to commercialization and sales. We focus
on such areas as: engincered polymer and particles;
advanced metrology; and mechanistic understanding and
emerging applications. As a result of our investment in

research and development, we have a fundamental under-
standing of the CMP process, chemistry, and mechanics that
we believe allows us to quickly and efficiently tailor our
applications to meet the needs of our leading-edge customers.

We also develop and formulate new and enhanced CMP
consumables and new CMP processes. We believe our lead-
ership in this area depends in part on our ability to develop
CMP applications tailored to our customers’ needs, so we
have assembled dedicated development teams that work
closely with customers to identify their specific technology
and manufacturing challenges and to translate these chal-
lenges into viable CMP process solutions. We also remain
focused on supporting our customers in the use of our prod-
ucts in their processes, so we have technical teams dedicated
to problem-solving and working with our customers daily
at their facilities.

Beyond CMP for the semiconductor and data storage indus-
tries, we are also increasing internal research and develop-
ment efforts related to our ESF initiative. We are leveraging
our technical expertise in CMP formulation, materials and
polishing techniques and applying it to demanding surface
modification and fine finish polishing applications in other
industries where shaping, enabling and enhancing perform-
ance is critical to success. We believe that a number of
application areas we are currently developing represent
natural adjacencies to our core CMP business and technology,
and include uses in fields such as optics, optoclectronics,
flat panel displays and metal finishing.

We believe competitive advantage lies in technology lead-
ership, and that our investments in research and develop-
ment provide us with leading-edge polishing and metrology
capabilities to support the most advanced and challenging
customer technology requirements on a global basis. In fiscal
2006, 2005 and 2004 we incurred approximately $48.1 mil-
lion, $43.0 million and $44.0 million, respectively, in
research and development expenses. Investments in research
and development property, plant and equipment are capilal-
ized and depreciated over their useful lives, We operate a
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research and development facility in Aurora, lllinois, which
is staffed by a team that includes experts from the semicon-
ductor industry and scientists from key disciplines required
for the development of high-performance CMP products.
This facility features a state-al-the-art Class 1 clean room and
advanced equipment for product development. We also have
invested in 300 mm polishing and metrology capabilities to
remain aligned with our leading-edge customers and lo pro-
vide us with the ability to replicate their CMP activities in
our clean room. In addition, we operate a technology center
in Japan that we believe enhances our ability to provide opti-
mized CMP solutions to our customers in the Asia Pacific
region, and underscores our commitment both to continuing
to invest in our technology infrastructure to maintain our
technology leadership, and to becoming even more respon-
sive to the needs of our customers. Other examples of this
commilment include our technical service center in Taiwan
and our data storage laboratory in Singapore that provide
additional slurry formulation capability.

Intellectual property
Our intellectual property is important to our success and
ability 10 compete. As of October 31, 2006, we had 137
active U.S. patents and 103 pending U.S. patent applica-
tions. In most cases we file counterpart foreign patent appli-
cations. Many of these palents are important to our continued
development of new and innovative products for CMP and
related processes, as well as for new business initiatives,
such as ESF. Our patents have a range of duration and we
do not expect to lose any material patent through expiration
in the next five years. We attempt lo protect our intellectual
property rights through a combination of patent. trademark,
copyright and trade secret laws, as well as employee and
third party nondisclosure and assignment agreements. We
vigorously and proactively pursue any parties that attempt
to compromise our investments in research and develop-
ment by infringing our intellectual property. For example,
we recently were successful in an action we brought before
the United States International Trade Commission (ITC) con-
cerning Cheil Industries, Inc. and its importation and sale
within the United States of certain CMP slurries that infringe
certain of our patents, The ITC's actions served to grant our
request to prevent this competitor from, among other things.
importing any infringing products into the U.S.

We also may acquire intellectual property from others
to enhance our intellectual property portfolio. For example,
in June 2006 we entered into a patent assignment agreement
with the International Business Machines Corporation {IBM).
tnder the terms of the agreement, we acquired a number
of patents and associated rights relating to CMP slurry tech-
nology from [IBM, including various applications such as
copper, copper barrier, tungsten, and dielectrics, among
others. We believe these technology rights will enhance our
competitive advantage by providing us with future product
development opportunities and expanding our already
substantial intellectual property portfolio. Furthermore,
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with our QED and Surface Finishes acquisitions we acquired
certain associated proprietary technology and intellectual

property.

Environmental matters

Our facilities are subject to various environmental laws and
regulations, including those relating to air emissions, waste-
water discharges, the handling and disposal of solid and
hazardous wastes, and occupational safety and health, We
believe that our facilities are in substantial compliance with
applicable environmental laws and regulations. We have
incurred, and will continue to incur, capital and operating
expenditures and other costs in complying with these

laws and regulations in both the United States and abroad.
However, we currently do not anticipate that the future costs
of environmental compliance will have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Employees

We believe we have a world-class team of scientists, technol-
ogists, engineers and other human resources who make our
Company successful. As of October 31, 2006, we employed
742 individuals, including 357 in operations, 208 in research
and development, 85 in sales and marketing and 92 in admin-
istration. None of our employees are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. We have not experienced any work
stoppages and in general consider our relations with our
employees to be good.

Financial information about geographic areas
We sell our products worldwide. Our geographic coverage
allows us to draw on business and technical expertise from
a worldwide workforce, provides stability to our operations
and revenue streams to offset geography-specific economic
trends, and offers us an opportunity to take advantage of
new markets for products,

For more financial information about geographic areas,
see Note 17 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments” included in Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

Available information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on

Form 10-Q, definitive proxy statements on Form 14a, current
reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports
are made available free of charge on our Company website,
www.cabolcmp.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after
such reports are filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Statements of changes in beneficial own-
ership of our securities on Form 4 by our exccutive officers
and directors are made available on our Company website
by the end of the business day following the submission to
the SEC of such filings. In addition, the SEC's websile,
www.sec.gov, contains reports, proxy statements, and other
information regarding reports that we file electronically
with the SEC.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors ‘

We do not believe there have been any material changes

in our risk factors since the filing of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005.
However, we may update our risk factors in our SEC filings
from time ta time for clarification purposes or to include
additional information, at management'’s discretion, even
when there have been no material changes.

Risks relating to our business

> We have a narrow product range and our products may

become obsolete, or technological changes may reduce

or limit increases in CMP consumplion
Our business is substantially dependent on a single class of
products, CMP slurries, which historically has accounted for
almest all of our revenue. Our business would suffer if these
products became obsolete or if consumption of these prod-
ucts decreased. Our success depends on our ability to keep
pace with technological changes and advances in the semi-
conductor industry and to adapt, improve and customize our
products for advanced IC applications in response to evolv-
ing customoer needs and industry trends. Since its inception,
the semiconductor industry has experienced rapid techno-
logical changes and advances in the design, manufacture,
performance and application of IC devices, and our customers
continually pursue lower cost of ownership of malerials
consumed in their manufacturing processes, including CMP
slurries. We expect these technological changes and advances,
and this drive toward lower costs, to continue in the future.
Emerging technologies in the semiconductor industry, as
well as aur customers’ effarts to reduce consumption of CMP
slurries, could render our products less important to the IC
device manufacturing process.

> A significant amount of our business comes from a limited
number of large customers and our revenue and profits
could decrease significantly if we lost one or more of
them as customers
Our customer base s concentrated among a limited number
of large customers. One or more of these principal customers
may stop buying CMP slurries from us or may substantially
reduce the quantity of CMP slurries they purchase from us.
Our principal customers also hold considerable purchasing
power, which can impact the pricing and terms of sale of
our products. Any deferral or significant reduction in CMP
slurries sold to these principal customers, or a significant
number of smaller customers, could seriously harm our busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations.

In fiscal 2006, our five largest customers accounted for
approximately 44% of our revenue, with Marketech. a dis-
tributor, and TSMC accounting for approximately 19% and
10% of our revenue, respectively. Effective April 2006, with
our transition to direct sales in Taiwan, we began selling
directly to TSMC, our largest end customer, and our other
cuslomers in Taiwan rather than through Marketech. In fiscal
2005, our five largest customers accounted for approximately

53% of our revenue, with Markelech accounting for approxi-
malely 35% of our revenue,

> Qur business could be seriously harmed if our existing
or future competitors develop superior slurry products,
offer better pricing terms or service, or oblain certain
intellectual property rights
Competition from current CMP slurry manufacturers or
new entrants to the CMP slurry market could seriously harm
our business and results of operations. Competition from
other existing providers of CMP slurries could continue
to increase, and opportunities exist for other companies with
sufficient financial or technological resources to emeorge as
potential competitors by developing their own CMP slurry
products. Increased competition has and may continue to
impact the prices we are able to charge for our slurry products
as well as our overall business. In addition, cur competitors
could have or obtain intellectual property rights which could
restrict our ability to market our existing products and/or
to innovale and develop new products.

> Any problem or interruption in supply of our most impor-

tant raw malerials, including fumed metal oxides, could

delay our slurry production and adversely affect our sales
Our business would suffer from any problem or interruption
in our supply of the key raw materials we use in our CMP
slurries, including fumed alumina and fumed silica. For
exammple, Cabot Corporation continues to be our primary
supplier of particular amounts and types of fumed alumina
and fumed silica. We believe it would be difficult to promptly
secure alternative sources of key raw materials, including
fumed metal oxides, in the event one of our suppliers
becomes unable to supply us with sufficient quantities of raw
materials that meet the quality and technical specifications
required by our customers. In addition, contractual amend-
menls to the existing agreements with, or non-performance by,
our suppliers could adversely affect us.

Also, if we change the supplier or type of key raw materi-
als, such as fumed metal oxides, we use to make our CMP
slurries, or are required to purchase them from a different
manufacturer or manufacturing facility or otherwise modify
our products, in certain circumstances our customers might
have to requalify our CMP slurries for their manufacturing
processes and products. The requalification process could
take a significant amount of time and expense to complete and
could motivate our customers to consider purchasing products
from our competitors, passibly interrupting or reducing our
sales of CMP slurries to these customers.

> We are subject to risks associated with our foreign
operations

We currently have operations and a large customer base

outside of the United States. Approximately 79% and 78%

of our revenue was generated by sales to customers outside

of the United States for fiscal 2006 and 2003, respectively.

We encounter risks in doing business in certain foreign
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countries, including, but not limited to, adverse changes

in economic and political conditions, as well as difficulty in
enforcing business and customer contracts and agreements,
including protection of intellectual property rights.

> Because we have [imiled experience in business areus
outside of CMP slurries, expansion of our business into
new products and applications may not be successful
An element of our strategy has been to leverage our current
customer relationships and technological expertise to expand
our CMP business from CMP slurries into other areas, such
as polishing pads. Additionally, under our engineered sur-
face finishes initiative we are actively pursuing a variety of
surface modification applications, such as high precision
optics. Expanding our business into new product areas could
involve technologies, production processes and business
models in which we have limited experience, and we may
not be able to develop and produce products or provide
services that satisfy customers' needs or we may be unable
to keep pace with technological or other developments. Also,
our competitors may have or obtain intellectual property
rights which could restrict our ability to market our existing
products and/or to innovate and develop new products.

> Because we rely heavily on our intellectual property, our
failure to adequately obtain or protect it could seriously
harm our business
Protection of intellectual property is particularly important
in our industry because CMP slurry and pad manufacturers
develop complex technical formulas for CMP products which
are proprietary in nature and differentiate their products from
those of competitors. Our intellectual property is important
to our success and abilily to compete. We attempt to protect
our intellectual property rights through a combination of
patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well
as emplovee and third-party nondisclosure and assignment
agreements. Due to our international operations, we pursue
protection in different jurisdictions, which may require vary-
ing degrees of protection. and we cannot provide assurance
that we can obtain adequate protection in each such jurisdie-
tion. Our failure to obtain or maintain adequate prolection
of our intellectual property rights for any reason could
seriously harm our business.

> We may pursue acquisitions of, investments in, and
strategic alliances with other entities, which could disrupt
our operations and harm our operating results if they
are unsuccessful
We cxpect to continue to make investments in companies,
either through acquisitions, investments or alliances, in order
to supplement our internal growth and development efforts.
Acquisitions and investments involve numerous risks,
including the following: difficulties in integrating the opera-
tions, technologies, praducts and personnel of acquired
companies; diversion of management's attention from normal
daily operations of the business; potential difficulties in
entering markets in which we have limited or no direct prior
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experience and where competitors in such markets have
stronger market positions; potential difficulties in operating
new businesses with different business models; potential
difficulties with regulatory or contract compliance in areas
in which we have limited experience; initial dependence on
unfamiliar supply chains or relatively small supply partners;
insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated
with acquisitions; potential loss of key employees of the
acquired companies; or inability to effectively cooperate and
collaborate with our alliance partners.

Further, we may never realize the perceived or anticipated
benefits of a business combination or investments in other
entities. Acquisitions by us could have negative effects on
our results of operations, such as contingent liabilities, gross
profit margins, amortization charges related to intangible
assets and other effects of accounting for the purchases of
other business entities. Investments and acquisitions of tech-
nology and development stage companies are inherently
risky because these businesses may never develop, and we
may incur losses related 1o these investments. In addition,
we may be required to write down the carrying value of
these investments to reflect other than temporary declines
in their value, which could harm our business and results
of operations.

> Demand for our products and our business may be
adversely affected by worldwide economic and industry
condifions
Our business is affected by economic and industry conditions
and it is extremely difficult to predict sales of our products
given uncertainties in these factors, There are several factors
that make it difficult for us to predict future revenue trends
for our business, including: the cyclical nature of the semi-
conductor industry; short order to delivery time for our
products and the associated lack of visibility to future cus-
tomer orders; and quarter to quarter changes in our revenue
regardless of industry strength. Some factors that affect
demand for our products are driven by variables such as
our customer’s production of logic versus memory devices,
customer integration schemes, share gains and losses and
pricing changes by us and our competitors.

> Our inability to atiract and retain key personnel could
cause our business to suffer
If we fail to attract and retain the necessary managerial,
technical and customer support personnel, our business and
our ability to maintain existing and obtain new customers,
develop new products and provide acceptable levels of
customer service could suffer. Competition for qualified
personnel, particularly those with significant experience
in the CMP and IC device industries, is intense. The loss
of services of key employees could harm our business and
results of operations.
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Risks relating to the market for our common stock

> The market price may fluctuate significantly and rapidly
The market price of our common stock has fluctuated and
could continue to fluctuale significantly as a result of factors
such as: economic and stock markel conditions generally
and specifically as they may impact participants in the
semiconductor and related industries; changes in financial
estimates and recommendations by securities analysts who
follow our stock: earnings and other anncuncements by, and
changes in market evaluations of, us or participants in the
semiconductor and related industries: changes in business
or regulatory conditions affecting us or participants in the
semiconductor and related industries; announcements or
implementation by us, our competitors, or our customers

of technological innovations, new products or different busi-
ness strategies; and trading volume of our common stock.

> Anti-takeover provisions under our certificate of incorpo-
ration and bylaws and our rights plan mayv discourage
third parties from making an unsolicited bid for our
business

Our certificate of incorparation. our bylaws, our rights plan
and various provisions of the Delaware General Corporation
Law may make it more difficult to effect a change in control
of our Company. For example, our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board of Directors
to issue up to 20 million shares of blank check preferred
stock and to attach special rights and preferences to this
preferred stock. Also our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation provides for the division of our Board of
Directors into three classes as nearly equal in size as possible
with staggered three-vear terms. In addition, the rights
issuod to our stockholders under our rights plan may make
it more difficult or expensive for another person or entity

to acquire control of us without the consent of our Board

of Directors.

We have adopted change in control arrangements covering
our execulive officers and other key employees. These
arrangements provide for a cash severance payment, contin-
ued medical benefits and other ancillary payments and
henefits upon termination of service of a covered employoe’s
employment following a change in control.

Item 1B8. Unresolved Stalf Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal U.S. facilities that we own consist of:

m a global headquarters and research and development
facility in Aurora, lllinois, comprising approximately
200,000 square feet;

a commercial dispersion plant and distribution center

in Aurora, Illinois, comprising approximately 175,000

square feot;

m a commercial manufacturing plant in Aurora, lllinois,
comprising approximately 48,000 square feet;

m an additional 13.2 acres of vacant land in Aurora, lilinois,
to accommodate the possibility of future growth; and

s a facility in Addison, linois. comprising approximately
15,000 square feet.
In addition, we leasc a facility in Rochester, New York,

comprising approximately 21,000 square feet.

Our principal foreign facilities that we own consist of;

@ a comunercial dispersion plant and distribution center
in Geino, Japan, comprising approximately 113,000
square feet;

m a rescarch and development facility in Geino, Japan.
comprising approximately 20,000 square feet.

Our principal foreign facilities that we lease consist of:

m a commercial manufacturing plant, research and develop-
ment facility and business office in Singapore, comprising
approximately 24,000 square feet;

m a commercial dispersion plant in Barry, Wales, comprising
approximately 22,000 square feet; and

m an office, laboratory and pilot plant in Hsin-Chu, Taiwan,
comprising approximately 20,000 square feet.

We believe that our current facilities are suitable and
adequate for their intended purpose and provide us with
sufficient capacity and capacity expansion opportunities and
technolagical capability to meet our current and expected
demand in the forcseeable future.

ltem 3. Legal Proceedings )

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings.
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Itern 4. Submission of Malters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Set forth below is information concerning our executive officers and their ages as of October 31, 2006.

Name Age Position

William P. Noglows 48 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
H. Carol Bernslein 46 Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel

Jean Pol Delrue 59 Vice President of Global Sales

William S. Johnson 49 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Daniel J. Pike 43 Vice President of Cerporate Development

Stephen R. Smith 47 Vice President of Marketing

Clifford L. Spiro 52 Vice President of Research and Development

Adam F. Weisman 44 Vice President of Business Operations

Daniel 5. Wobby 43 Vice President ¢f Asia Pacilic Region

Thomas S. Roman 45 Principal Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller

William P. Noglews has served as our Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer since November 2003.

Mr. Noglows had previously served as a director of our
Company from january 2000 until April 2002. Prior to join-
ing us, Mr. Noglows served as an Executive Vice President
of Cabot Corporation from 1998 o June 2003. Prior to that,
Mr. Noglows held various management positions at Cabot
Corporation including General Manager of Cabot Corpora-
tion’s Cab-O-Sil Division, where he was one of the primary
founders of Cabot Microelectronics when its business was
a division of Cabot Corporation, and was responsible for
identifying and encouraging the development of the CMP
application. Mr. Noglows received his B.S. in Chemical
Engineering from the Georgia Institute of Technology.

H. Carol Bernstein has served as our Vice President, Secre-
tary and General Counsel since August 2000, From January
1998 until joining us, Ms. Bernstein served as the General
Counsel and Director of Industrial Technology Development
of Argonne National Laboratory, which is operated by the
University of Chicago for the United States Department of
Energy. From May 1985 until December 1997, she served
in various positions with the IBM Corporation, culminating
in serving as an Associate General Counsel, and was the
Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel of Advantis
Corporation, an IBM joint venture. Ms. Bernstein received
her B.A, from Colgate University and her ].D. from North-
western University; she is a member of the Bar of the states
of Illinois and New York.
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Jean Pol Delrue has served as our Vice President of Global
Sales since April 2005. Previously, he was our Vice Presi-
dent of European Business Region since July 2004. He also
served as our European Business Manager from June 2001

to July 2004. Prior to joining us, Dr. Delrue worked for Ebara
Precision Machinery Europe from January 1995 to June 2001,
culminating in serving as the Vice President of CMP Europe.
Prior to that, he served as the Business and Technical
Development Director and Member of the Management
Board at Riber Instruments SA. Dr. Delrue holds an Executive
M.B.A. from the Centre de Perfectionnement des Affaires in
Paris, France, a Ph.D. in Physical Chemistry from Belgium's
University of Mons, and has performed post doctorate work
in chemical engineering at Stanford University.

William 8. Johnson has served as our Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer since April 2003. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Johnson served as Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer for Budget Group, Inc. from August 2000
to March 2003. Before that, Mr. Johnson spent 16 years at BP
Amoco in various sentor finance and management positions,
the most recent of which was President of Amoco Fabrics and
Fibers Company. Mr. Johnson received his B.S. in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of Oklahoma and his M.B.A.
from the Harvard Business School.




Daniel J. Pike has served as our Vice President of Corporate
Development since January 2004 and prior to that was our
Vice President of Operations from December 1999. Mr. Pike
served as Cabot Corporation's Director of Global Operations
from 1996 to 1999. Prior to that, Mr. Pike worked for FMC
Corporation. Mr. Pike received his B.S. in Chemical Engi-
neering from the University of Buffalo and his M.B.A.

from the Wharton School of Business of the Universily

of Pennsylvania.

Stephen R. Smith has served as our Vice President of
Marketing since September 20086, and previously was our
Vice President of Marketing and Business Management since
April 2005 and our Vice President of Marketing and Sales
from October 2001. Prior to joining us, Mr. Smith served as
Vice President, Sales & Business Development for Buildpoint
Corporation from 2000 to October 2001. Prior to that, Mr.
Smith spent 17 years at Tyco Electronics Group, formerly
known as AMP Incorporated, in various management posi-
tions. Mr. Smith earned a B.S. in [ndustrial Engineering
from Grove City College and an M.B.A. from Wake Forest
University.

Clifford L. Spiro has served as Vice President of Research
and Development since December 2003, Prior to joining us,
Dr. Spiro served as Vice President of Research and Develop-
ment at Ondeo-Nalco from 2001 through November 2003.
Prior to that, Dr. Spiro held research and development
management and senior technology positions at the General
Electric Company from 1980 through 2001, the most recent
of which was Global Manager—Technology for Business
Development, Dr. Spiro received his B.S. in Chemistry from
Stanford University and his Ph.D. in Chemistry from the
California Institute of Technology.

Adam F. Weisman has served as our Vice President of
Business Operations since September 20086, and prior to that
was our Vice President of Operations. Before joining us,

Mr. Weisman held various engineering and senior operations
management positions with the General Electric Company
from 1988 through 2004, including having served as the
General Manager of Manufacturing for GE Plastics—Super-
abrasives, and culminating in serving as the Executive Vice
President of Operations for GE Railcar Services. Prior to join-
ing GE, he worked as an engineering team leader and pilot
plant manager for E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Company.

Mr. Weisman holds a B.S. in Ceramic Engineering from
Alfred University.

Daniel S. Wobby has served as our Vice President of Asia
Pacific Region since September 2005. Prior to that, Mr. Waobby
served as Vice President of Greater China and Southeast Asia
starting in February 2004. Mr. Wobby previously was our
Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer from
2000 to 2004, From 1989 to 2000, Mr. Wabby held various
accounling and operations positions with Cabot Corporation
culminating in serving as Dircctor of Finance. Mr. Wobby
earned a B.S. in Accounting from St. Michael’s College and
an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago's Graduate School
of Business.

Thomas S. Roman has served as our Corporate Controller
and Principal Accounting Officer since February 2004 and
previously served as our North American Controller. Prior
to joining us in April 2000, Mr. Roman was employed hy
FMC Corporation in various financial reporting, tax and
audit positions. Before that, Mr. Roman worked for Gould
Electronics and Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Roman is a CPA.
and earned a B.S. in Accounting from the University of
1llinois and an M.B.A. from DePaul University’s Kellstadt
Graduate School of Business.
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PART 1l

Item 5. Markel lor Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockhalder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock has traded publicly on the NASDAQ Global Select Market {formerly the NASDAQ National Market)
under the symbol “CCMP" since our initial public offering in April 2000. The following table sets forth the range of quarterly
high and low closing sales prices for our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

High Low

Fiscal 2005 First quarter 40.80 30.58
Second quarter 38.37 30.43

Third quarter 31.77 27.39

Fourth quarter 33.10 27.74

Fiscal 2006 First quarter 32.33 28.26
Second quarter 37.14 28.82

Third quarster 38.25 2584

Fourth quarter 32.34 26.21

Fiscal 2007 First quarter (through October 31, 2006} 31.25 28.36

As of October 31, 20086, there were approximately 1,025 holders of record of our common stock. No dividends were
declared or paid in either fiscal 2006 or fiscal 2005 and we have no current plans to pay cash dividends in the future.

Issuer purchases of equily securities

Total number of shares

Approximate dollar value of shares

Total number Average purchased as part that may yet be purchased

of shares price paid of publicly announced under the plans or programs

Period purchased per share plans or programs (in thousands)
July 1 through July 31, 2006 - - - $32,005
August 1 through August 31, 2006 269,363 $29.70 269,363 24,004
September 1 through September 30, 2006 - - - 24,004
Total 269,363 $29.70 269,363 $24,004

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we completed our initial $25.0 million share repurchase program, which was author-
ized in July 2004. On October 27, 2005, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized a new share repurchase
program for up to $40.0 million of our outstanding common stock. Shares are repurchased from lime to time, depending
on market conditions, in open market transactions, at management's discretion. We fund share repurchases from our existing
cash balance. The program, which became effective on the authorization date, may be suspended or terminated at any time,
at the Company's discretion. We view the program as an effective means to return cash to shareholders,
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Item G. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data for each year of the five-year period ended September 30, 2006, has been derived from
the audited consolidated financial statements. Certain reclassifications of prior fiscal year amounts have been made to conform
to the current period presentation.

The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations and should be read in conjunction
with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial
staternents and notes to those statements included in ltems 7 and 8 of Part 11 of this Form 10-K, as well as Risk Factors
included in Item 1A of Part I of this Form 10-K.

Year ended September 30,
Armounts in thousands, except per share amounts 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Consolidated Statement of income data:

Revenue $320,795 $270,484 $309,433 $251,665 $235,165
Cost of goods sold 171,758 141,282 156,805 124,269 113,067
Gross profit 149,037 129,202 152,628 127,396 122,098
Operating expenses:
Research, development and technical 48,070 43010 44,003 11,516 33,668
Selling and marketing 21,115 16,989 16,225 11,2214 9,667
General and administrative 34,319 25427 22,691 18,565 17,803
Litigation settlement - - - - 1,000
Purchased in-precess research and development 1,120 - - - -
Total operating expenses 104,624 85,426 82919 71,302 62,138
Operating income 44,413 43,776 69,709 56,094 59,960
Other income (expense), net 4111 2747 139 (27} 763
Income before income taxes 48,524 46,523 69,848 56,067 60,723
Provision for income taxes 15,576 14,050 23,120 18,334 20,038
Net income $ 32,948 $ 32473 $ 46,728 $ 37,733 $ 40,685
Basic earnings per share $ 136 $ 132 $ 189 $ 155 $ 188
Weighted average basic shares outstanding 24,228 24,563 24,750 24,401 24,160
Diluted earnings per share $§ 136 $ 132 $ 188 $ 153 $ 166
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 24,228 24,612 24,882 24,665 24,565
Cash dividends per share $ - % - $ - $ - $ -

As of September 30,
Amounts in thousands, excep! per share amounts 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheet data:

Current assets $261,505 $245,807 $229,681 $179,112 $123.283
Property, plant and equipment, net 130,176 135,784 127,794 133,695 132,264
Other assels 20,452 5172 5,816 2810 2,838

Total assets $412,133 $386,763 $363,291 $315.617 $258,385
Current liabilities $ 38,833 $ 35622 $ 32,375 $ 28,916 $ 30,571
Long-term debt - - - - 3,500
Other long-term liabilities 5,529 12,057 16,294 14,928 10,808

Total liabilities 44,362 47,679 47,669 43,844 44,879
Steckholders’ equity 367,711 339,084 315,622 274773 213,506

Total liabiltties and siockholders’ equity $412,133 $386,763 $363,291 $315.617 $258.385
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ltern 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Con

The following “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations’; as well as
disclosures included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, include
“forward looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. This Act
provides a safe harbor for forward looking statements to
encourage companies to provide prospective information
ahout themselves sc long as they identify these statements
as forward looking and provide meaningful cautionary state-
ments identifying important factars that could cause actual
results to differ from the projected results. All statlements
other than statements of historical fact we make in this Farm
10 K are forward looking. In particular, the statements herein
regarding future sales and operating results; Company and
industry growth and trends; growth of the markets in which
the Company participates; international events; product
performance; the generation, protection and acquisition

of intellectuat property; new product introductions; develop-
ment of new products, technologies and markets; the acqui-
sition af or investment in other entities; the construction of
new or refurbishment of existing facilities by the Company:
and slatements preceded by, followed by or that include the
words “intends’, “estimates’; “plans’; “believes” “expects’,
“anticipates’, “should’; “could” or similar expressions. are
forward looking statements. Forward looking statements
reflect our current expectations and are inherently uncertain.
Our actual results may differ significantly from our expecta-
tions. We assume no ohligation to update this forward look-
ing information. The section entitled “Risk Faclors” describes
some, but not all, of the factors that could cause these
differences.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in
conjunction with our historical financial statements and the
notes to those financial statements which are included in
Item 8 of Part 11 of this Form 10-K.

Overview
Cabot Microelectronics Corporation (“Cabot Microclectronics’;
“the Company”, “us’ “we’ or “our") is the leading supplier
of high-performance polishing slurries used in the manufac-
ture of advanced integrated circuit (IC) devices within the
semicenductor industry, in a process called chemical mechan-
ical planarization (CMP), CMP is a process that polishes
surfaces at an atomic level, thereby enabling IC device man-
ufacturers to produce smaller, faster and more complex
IC devicos with fewer defects. We believe that demand for
our products is primarily based on the number of wafers,
or “wafer starts”, of advanced devices produced by semicon-
ductor manufacturers.

We operate predominantly in one industry segment—
the development, manufacture and sale of CMP slurries. Our
CMP products are used for a number of applications, such
as polishing insulating dielectric layers, tungsten that is used
{o connect the multiple wiring layers of IG devices through
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these insulaling layers, and copper wiring, including the
associated barrier film. We also develop, manufacture and
sell CMP slurries for polishing certain components in hard
disk drives, specifically rigid disk substrates and magnetic
heads, and we believe we are one of the leading suppliers in
this area. In addition, we are developing and commercializ-
ing CMP polishing pads, which are used in conjunction
with slurries in the CMP process.

In addition to strengthening and growing our core CMP
business, through our Engineered Surface Finishes (ESF)
initiative we are exploring a variety of surface modification
applications where we believe our technical ability to shape,
enable and enhance the performance of surfaces at an atomic
level may provide improved productivity or previously
unseen surface performance. By supplementing our internal
development efforts with some externally acquired technolo-
gies and businesses, we seek to leverage our expertise in
CMP slurry formulation, materials and polishing techniques
for the semiconductor industry to address other demanding
market applications requiring nanoscale control of surface
shape and finish, and gain access to a variety of markets that
we do not currently serve.

In pursuit of our ESF initiative, we completed two acqui-
sitions in fiscal 2006. In October 20035, we acquired substan-
tially all of the assets and assumed certain current liabilities
of Surface Finishes Co., Inc., a privately-held company that
specializes in precision machining techniques at the sub-
nano-meter level, as well as associated real property from
a related trust. The total purchase price, was approximately
$2.3 million. In July 2006 we acquired substantially all of
the assets and assumed certain current liabilities of QED
Technologies, Inc. (QED), a privately-held company that
specializes in unique, patented polishing and metrology sys-
tems for shaping and polishing of high precision optics.

The purchase price was approximately $19 million, which
we paid in cash from our available balance and we may pay
up to an additional $4.5 million depending upon the per-
formance of the QED business over the two years following
the purchase.

On a geographic basis, the Asia Pacific region continues
to be the fastest growing region for IC manufacturing as well
as for our business, and we expect this trend to continue
in the future. In furtherance of our strategic initiatives to
advance our technology leadership and to stay connected
with our customers, we opened our Asia Pacific technology
center, located adjacent to our existing manufacturing facility
in Geino, Japan, which includes a clean room and provides
polishing, metrology and product development capability to
support our customers in the region. In addition, we moved
the portion of our business thal serves the rigid disk market
to Singapore, since a number of important industry partici-
pants are located in Southeast Asia. Another example of
our commiltment to staving connected with customers is our
transition to direct sales in Taiwan. In August 2005 we




announced plans to sell our products directly to cuslomers
in Taiwan, rather than through Marketech, an independent
distributor, effective April 2006, We executed this orderly
transition in our second fiscal quarter of 2006. Our distributor
sold its remaining inventory of our products to our customers
and we built inventory required to service these customers
directly; this caused a short-term adverse effoct to our normal
sales pattern of approximately $10 miltion to $11 million
during our second fiscal quarter. However, following the
transition period, our sales volumes rehounded and our
revenue increased slightly to the extent we were able to gain
a portion of cur distributor’s markup.,

This vear, we added to our portfolio of intellectual property
for CMP slurries by acquiring from International Business
Machines Corporation (IBM) a number of patents and associ-
ated rights relating to CMP slurry technology for $5.0 million.
These patents and associated rights cover a wide range of
CMP slurry applications, and we believe they represent a
valuable comploment to our existing technology and build on
the overall sirength of our intellectual property. Additionally,
we were successful in an action we brought before the United
States International Trade Commission (ITC) concerning
Cheil Industries, Inc. and its importation and sale wilthin
the United States of certain CMP slurries that infringe certain
of our patents. The ITC's actions served to grant our request
to prevent this competitor from, among other things, import-
ing any infringing products into the U.S.

In October 2005 we announced that our Beard of
Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up
to $40.0 million of our outstanding common stock. Shares
were repurchased from time to time, depending on market
conditions, in open market transactions, at management's
discretion. We intend to continue funding share repurchases
from our existing cash balance. We view the program as an
effective means to return cash to shareholders. The program,
which became effective on the authorization date, may be
suspended or terminated at any time, at the Company's
discretion. In fiscal 2006 we repurchased 523,147 shares of
stock for a total price of $16.0 million, leaving $24.0 million
remaining under the program at the beginning of fiscal 2007.

Revenue for fiscal 2006 was $320.8 million, which was
an increase of 18.6% from the $270.5 million reported for
fiscal 2005, due largely to an increase in sales volume. This
increase in revenue reflects a modest semiconductor industry
recovery in 2006 following a downturn in 2005. Our long-
term goal is to grow our revenue by 15% per year, which
would allow vs to achieve annual revenue of approximately
$500 million in three years. However, there are many factors
that make it difficult for us to predict future revenue trends
for our business, including the cyclical nature of the semi-
conductor industry; timing of our potential future acquisi-
tions; short order to delivery time for our products and the
associated lack of visibility to future customer orders; and
quarter to quarter changes in our revenue regardless of
industry strength.

Gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenue for fiscal
2006 was 46.5%, which represents a decrease from the 47.8%
reported for fiscal 2005. The decrease was primarily driven
by selected price reductions and higher costs including those
associated with commercializing our pad product line and
the transition of our data storage business to Singapore.
These adverse offects were partially offset by higher utiliza-
tion of our manufacturing capacity due to the higher level
of sales. We expect 1o be able to maintain our gross profit as
a percentage of revenue in the range of 46% to 48% for fiscal
year 2007, This guidance applies to our full fiscal yoar results
rather than specific quarterly resuits: we may experience
quarterly gross profit above or below this range due to Nuc-
tuations in cur product mix or other factors.

Operating expenses, which include research, development,
technical. selling, marketing. general and administrative
expenses, increased 22.5%, or $19.2 million, from the $85.4
million reported for fiscal 2005. One of the primary reasons
for this increase is the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (revised 2004}, “Share-
Based Payment” (SFAS 123R) effective October 2005. Share-
based compensation expense is now recognized in our income
statement rather than just disclosed in our footnotes, which
was previously allowed. Pre-tax share-based compensation
expense for fiscal 2006 was $10.7 million, of which $10.0
million was classified in operating expenses. Another reason
for the increase in operating expenses was higher staffing
costs, including costs to support our initiatives in the Asia
Pacific region. Operating expenses also increased due to our
acquisitions described above, including for the expensing
of purchased in-process research and development (IPR&D)
associated with our QED acquisition. In fiscal 2007, we
expect our operating expenses to be in the range of approxi-
mately $27 million to $30 million per quarter, trending up
slightly within this range during the vear.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations’, as well as disclosures
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, are based upon our
audited consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judg-
ments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingen-
cies. On an ongeing basis, we evaluate the estimates used,
including those related to bad debt expense, warranty obliga-
tions, inventory valuation, impairment of long-lived assets
and investments, business combinations, goodwill, other
intangible assets, share-based compensation, income taxes
and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical expe-
rience, current condilions and on various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
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readily apparent from other sources, as well as identifying
and assessing our accounting treatment with respect to com-
mitments and contingencies. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe the following critical accounting policies involve
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation
of our consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resufting from the potential inability of our customers
1o make required payments. Our allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on historical collection experience, adjusted
for any specific known conditions or circumstances. While
historical experience may provide a reasonable estimate of
uncollectible accounts, actual results may differ from what
was tecorded. As of September 30, 2006, our allowance for
doubtful accounts represented 1.1% of gross accounts receiv-
able. If we had increased our estimate of bad debts by 1.0%,
10 2.1% of gross accounts receivable, our general and admin-
istrative expense would have increased by $0.5 million.

Warranty reserve

We maintain a warranty reserve that reflects management's
best estimate of the cost to replace product that does not meet
customers' specifications and performance requirements,
and costs related to such replacement. The warranty reserve
is based upon a historical product replacement rate, adjusted
for any specific known conditions or circumstances. Should
actual warranty costs differ substantially from our estimates,
revisions to the estimated warranty liability may be required.
As of September 30, 2006, our warranty reserve represented
1.1% of the current quarter revenue. If we had increased our
warranty reserve estimate by 1.0%. to 2.1% of the current
quarter revenue, our cost of goods sold would have increased
by $0.9 million.

Inventory valuation

We value inventory at the lower of cost or market and write
down the value of inventory for estimated obsolescence or
if inventory is deemed unmarketable. An inventory reserve
is maintained based upon a historical percentage of actual
inventory written off applied against inventory at the end of
the period, adjusted for known conditions and circumstances.
We exercise judgment in estimating the amount of inventory
that is obsolete. Should actual product marketability and
raw material fitness for use he affected by conditions that are
different from those projected by management, revisions to
the estimated inventory reserve may be required.

impairment of long-lived assets and investments

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” {SFAS 144), requires us lo assess the
recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets
whenever evenls or changes in circumstances indicate thal
the assets may be impaired. We must exercise judgment in
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assessing whether an event of impairment has occurred. For
purposes of recognition and measurement of an impairment
loss, long-lived assets are grouped with other assets and lia-
bilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows
are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and
liabilities. We must exorcise judgment in this grouping.
SFAS 144 requires that if the sum of the undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the identified asset group
is less than the carrying value of the asset group, then an
impairment must be recognized in the financial statements.
The amount of the impairment to be recognized is calculated
by subtracting the fair value of the asset group from the
reported value of the asset group. Determining future cash
flows and estimating fair values requires significant judgments
and is highly susceptible to change from period to period
because it requires management 1o make assumptions about
future sales and cost of sales generatly over a long-term
period.

We evaluate the estimated fair value of investments
annually or more frequently if indicators of potential impair-
ment exist, to determine if an other-than-temporary impair-
ment in the value of the investment has taken place.

Business combinations

In accordance with SFAS No, 141, “Business Combinations”,
we allocate the purchase price of acquired entities to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed.
as well as IPR&D based on their estimated fair values.

We engage independent third-party appraisal firms to assist
us in determining the fair values of assets and liabilities
acquired. This valuation requires management to make signifi-
cant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to
long-lived and intangible assets.

Critical estimates in valuing certain of the intangible
assets include but are not limited to: future expected cash
flows related to acquired developed technologies and patents
and assumptions aboult the period of time the technologies
will continue to be used in the combined Company’s product
portfolio; expected costs to develop the IPR&D into commer-
cially viable products and estimating cash flows from the
projects when completed; and discount rates. Management’s
estimates of value are based upon assumptions believed to be
reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpre-
dictable. Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate,
and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives arc amortized
over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill and other intangi-
ble assets are tested annually or mare frequently if indicators
of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based
approach. We determined that goodwill and other intangible
assets were not impaired as of Septemnber 30, 2006.
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Share-based compensation
Effective Qctober 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS 123R, which
requires all share-based payments, including stock option
grants, restricted stock and emplovee stock purchases, to be
recagnized in the income statement based on their fair
values. SFAS 123R supersedes our previous accounting for
share-based compensation under Accounting Principles
Board (APB] Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees’, and related interpretations, as allowed under
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(SFAS 123} and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation-Transition and Disclosure” {SFAS 148).
Under SFAS 123R, the pro forma disclosure alternative per-
mitted under SFAS 123 and SFAS 148 is no longer allow-
able. We adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective
transition method as permitted by SFAS 123R; therefore,
we have not restated our financial results for prior periods.
Under SFAS 123R, we conlinue to attribute share-based
compensation expense using the straight-line approach based
on awards ultimately expected to vest, which requires the
use of an estimated forfeiture rate. Forfeitures were estimat-
ed based on historical experience. In addition, we continue
to use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (“Black-Scholes
model”) to estimate grant date fair value, which requires the
input of highly subjective assumptions, including the option’s
expected life and the price volatility of the underlying stock.
A small change in the underlying assumptions can have
a relatively large effect on the estimated valuation. Under
SFAS 123R., we estimate expected volatility based on a com-
bination of our stock’s historical volatility and the implied
volatilities from actively-lraded aptions on our stock. Prior
to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we estimated expected volatil-
ity based only on our stock’s historical volatility in accor-
dance with SFAS 123 for purposes of our pro forma disclo-
sure. We believe that implied volatility is more reflective of
market conditions; however, due to the shorter length in term
of the actively-traded options, we believe it to be appropriate
to use a blended assumption. In addition, we have updated
our expected term assumption by adopting the simplified
method as defined under Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB)
No. 107, “Share-Based Payments” (SAB 107), due to our lim-
ited amount of historical option exercise data. This method
uses an average of the vesting and contractual terms.
Through an amendment made and effective as of
September 27, 2004, the vesting of approximately 1.3 million
options, thal had option prices greater than $34.65 on the
amendment dale, was accelerated to September 1, 2005. The
acceleration enabled us to eliminate the recognition of share-
based compensation expense associated with these “out-of-
the-money” options in our consolidated financial statements
upon the adoption of SFAS 123R in October 2005, Because
expected share-based compensation expense for fiscal 2006
would have been higher if the vesting of these “out-of-the-
money” stock options had not been accelerated, it may not
be representative of share-based compensation expense for
future years. In addition, factors that may impact share-based

compensation expense in future years include, but are not
limited to, changes to our historical approaches to long-term
incentives, such as the timing and number of additicnal
grants of stock aption awards, the vesting period and con-
tractual term of stock oplion awards and types of equity
awards granted, Further, share-based compensation may be
impacted by changes in the fair value of future awards
through variables such as fluctuations in and volatility of our
stock price, as well as changes in employee exercise behav-
ior and forfeiture rates. As of September 30, 2006, there was
$23.9 million of total unrecognized share-based compensa-
tion expense relaled lo nonvested stock options granted
under the Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.

Our historical approach to long-term incentives has heen
primarily through the issuance of stock options. Howoever,
beginning in {iscal 2007, we anticipate moving to a blend
of equity grants, under which a combination of stock option
awards and restricted stock or restricted stock units are
anticipated being granted. We anticipate that both the stock
options and the restricted stock or restricted stock units will
vest equally over a four-year period, with first vesting on the
anniversary of the grant date, and with stock options contin-
uing to have a ten-year contractual term.

Accounting for income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS

No. 109, "Accounlting for Income Taxes” {SFAS 109), which
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized
using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences
between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabil-
ities. SFAS 109 also requires that deferred tax assets be
reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
We have determined that it is more likely than not that our
future taxable incame will be sufficient to realize our deferred
tax assets.

Commitments and contingencies

We have entered into unconditional purchase cbligations,
which include noncancelable purchase commitments and
take-or-pay arrangements with suppliers. We review our
agreements and make an assessment of the likelihood of

a shortfall in purchases and determine if it is necessary to
record a liabitity. In addition, we are subject to the possibility
of various loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course
of business such as a legal proceeding or claim. An estimated
loss contingency is accrued when it is probable that an asset
has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We regularly
evaluate current information available to us to determine
whether such accruals should be adjusted and whether new
accruals are required.
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Effects of recent accounting pronouncements

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements” (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides interpretive guid-
ance on how the effects of the carrvover or reversal of prior
year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a
current year misstatement. The SEC staff believes that regis-
trants should quantify errors using both a balance sheet and
an income statement approach and evaluate whether either
approach results in quantifying a misstatement that, when
all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are consid-
ered, is material, SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending
after November 15, 2007. We do not expect the adoption

of SAB 108 to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
“Fair Value Measurement” (SFAS 157}. SFAS 157 establishes
a common definition for fair value in generally accepted
accounting principles, establishes a framework for measur-
ing fair value and expands disclosure about such fair value
measuremenls, SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years begin-
ning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating
the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our consolidated finan-
cial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB State-
ments No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)” (SFAS 158). SFAS 158
requires an employer that sponsors one or more single-
employer defined benefit plans to: a) recognize the overfunded
or underfunded status of a benefit plan in its statement of
financial position; b) recognize as a component of other com-
prehensive income, net of tax, any remaining unamortized
transition obligation upon adoption as well as the gains or
losses and prior service costs or credits that have not yet
been recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost
pursuant to SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions”, or SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”; c) measure
defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of
the employer’s fiscal year-ond; and d) disclose in the notes
to financial statements additional information about certain
effects on nct periodic bencfit cost for the next fiscal year
that arise from delayed recognition of the gains or losses,
prior service costs or credits and transition asset or obliga-
tion. This statement is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact
of adopting SFAS 158 on our consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations and cash flows,

In July 20086, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
*Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxos—an Interpreta-
tion of FASB Statement 109" (FIN 48), which clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This interpreta-
tion sets forth a recognition threshold and measurement
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element for the recognition and measurerment of a tax posi-
tion taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. This
interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact
of adopting FIN 48 on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

In June 20086, the FASB ratified the consensus reached
by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) in Issue No. 06-3,
“How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income
Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)” (EITF
06-3). The scope of this issue includes any tax assessed by a
governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-
producing aclivily between a seller and a customer and may
include, but is not limited to, sales, use, value-added, and
some excise taxes. EITF 06-3 indicates that the income state-
ment presentation of these taxes on a gross or net basis is
an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed in
a company’s financial statements. EITF 08-3 is effective
for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of EITF
06-3 to have an impacl on our consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2005, the FASB issucd FASB Staff Position
(FSP) Nos. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments” (FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1). This FSP
addresses the determination as to when an investment is
considered impaired, whether that impairment is other than
temporary, and the measurement of an impairment loss.

It also includes accounting considerations subsequent to the
recognition of other-than-temporary impairments. The FSP
applies to reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2005. The adoption of FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1 did not
impact our consolidated financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.

In September 2005. the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 04-13,
“Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the
Same Counterparty™ (EITF 04-13). The EITF concludes that
two or more legally separate exchange transactions with the
same counterparty should be combined and considered as
a single arrangement for purposes of applying Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions’, when the transactions are entered
into in conternplation of one another, Furthermore, when
two transaclions are considered a single arrangement, the
assels exchanged should be accounted for at fair value.

The EITF is effective for transaclions completed in reporting
periods beginning after March 15, 2006. The adoption of
EITF 04-13 did not impact our consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows.




Results of aperations

The following table sets forth. for the periods indicated, the
percentage of revenue of certain line items included in our
historical statements of income:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold 835 522 50.7
Gross profit 46.5 478 49.3
Research and development 15.0 159 14.2
Selling and marketing 6.6 6.3 52
General and administrative 10.7 2.4 7.3
Amertization of intangibles 0.3 - -
QOperating income 13.8 16.2 226
Other income (expense), net 1.3 1.0 -
Income beiore income taxes 151 17.2 226
Pravision for income taxes 4.9 5.2 75
Net income 10.3% 12.0% 15.1%

Year ended September 30, 2006,
versus year ended September 30, 2005

Revenue

Revenue was $320.8 million in 2006, which represented an
18.6%, or $50.3 million, increase from 2005. Of this increase,
$48.7 million was due to an increase in sales volume and
$5.1 million was related to our July 2006 acquisition of QED);
these increases were partially offset by a net $3.5 million
decrease due to the change in weighted average selling price.
The decrease in weightled average selling price primarily
resulted from selected price reductions largely offsel by a
higher-priced product mix. Selling prices are also affected

by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Revenue for
fiscal 2006 would have been $3.7 million higher had the
average exchange rates for the Japanese Yen and Euro during
the year held constant with the prior year's average rates.

Revenue increased in fiscal 2006 despite our transition
to selling directly to our customers in Taiwan rather than
through a distributor. which caused a short-term interruption
in our normal sales pattern during our second quarter of
fiscal 2006 of approximately $10 million to $11 million.
However, after this transition period, we believe we were able
to gain a portion of the markup that our distributor previously
charged its end customers, which partially offset the adverse
revenue impact from the transition.

Our long-term goal is to grow our revenue by 15% per
vear, which would allow us to achieve annual revenue of
approximately 3500 million in three years. However, therc
are several factors that make it difficult for us to predict future
revenue trends, as discussed in the “Overview™ section of
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi-
tion and Results of Operations’.

Cost of goods sold

Total cost of goods sold was $171.8 million in 2006, which
represented an increase of 21.6%, or $30.5 million, from
2005. Of this increase, $25.4 million was due to higher sales
volume, $3.5 million was related to our acquisition of QED
and $1.5 million was due to higher average costs per gallon.
The average cost per gallon increased primarily due to a
higher-cost product mix, higher fixed costs, including amor-
tization of our CMP lechnology patents from 1BM, and greater
logistics costs as a result of our transition to direct sales in
Taiwan. These costs were partially offset by higher utilization
of our manufacturing capacity due to the higher level of sales.

Fumed metal oxides, such as fumed silica and fumed
alumina, are significant raw materials that we use in many
of our CMP slurries. In an effort to mitigate our risk to rising
raw material costs and to increase supply assurance and
quality performance requircments, we have entered into
multi-year supply agreements with a number of suppliers.
For more financial information about our supply contracts,
see “Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations™ included
in Item 7 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

Our necd for additional quantities or different kinds of key
raw materials in the future has required, and wiil continue
to require, that we enter into new supply arrangements with
third parties. Future arrangements may result in costs which
are different from those in the existing agreements. In addi-
tion, rising energy costs may also impact the cost of raw
materials, packaging and freight costs. We also expect to
continue to invest in our operations excellence initiative to
improve product quality, reduce variability and improve
product yields in our manufacturing process.

Gross profit

Our gross profit as a percentage of revenue was 46.5% in
2006 as compared to 47.8% in 2005. The 1.3 percentage
point decrease in gross profit margin resulted primarily from
selected price reductions and higher costs including those
associated with commercializing our pad product line and
the transition of our data slorage business to Singapore.
These adverse effects were partially offset by higher utiliza-
tion of our manufacturing capacity due to the higher level
of sales. We expect to be able to maintain our gross profit
as a perceniage of revenue in the range of 46% to 48% for
full fiscal year 2007. Quarterly gross profit may be above

or below this range due to fluctuations in our product mix
or other factors.

Research, development and technical

Total research, development and technical expenses were
$48.1 million in 2006, which represented an increase of
11.8% or $5.1 million, from 2005. The increase was primarily
related to $3.5 million in increased staffing costs, $1.5 million
in increased depreciation and $0.7 million in impairment
expense. The increased staffing costs included $1.2 million
in higher expenses for our annual incentive program related
to our research, development and technical staff as well as
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$1.0 million in share-based compensation expense. The
increased depreciation expense was primarily related to the
October 2005 opening of our Asia Pacific lechnology center
in Geino, Japan. The impairment expense was attributable
1o the decision to no longer use the portion of a building in
Aurora, lllinois, that was previously used for research and
development activities. These increases were partially offset
by $0.8 million in decreased costs for clean room materiais
and laboratory supplies.

Our research, development and technical efforts are
focused on the following main areas:

m Research related to fundamental CMP technology;

» Development and formulation of new and enhanced CMP
slurry and pad products;

w Process development to support rapid and effective
commercialization of new products;

m Evaluation of new polishing applications outside of the
semiconductor industry; and

» Applications support.

Selling and marketing

Selling and marketing expenses were $21.1 million in 2006,
which represented an increase of 24.3%. or $4.1 million, over
2005, The increasc resulted primarily from higher staffing
costs of $3.0 million. inctuding $1.0 million in share-based
compensation expense and $0.4 million in higher expense
for our annual incentive program related lo our sales and
marketing staff. Another $0.4 million of the increase was
due to increased travel (o the Asia Pacific region as we
implemented a number of projects in support of our strategic
initiative to stay connected with our customers, such as
transitioning te direct sales in Taiwan and moving our data
storage business to Singapore. Selling and marketing expenses
also increased $0.2 million due to higher office renial fees
and $0.2 million related to increased product sample costs.

General and administrative

General and adminisirative expenses were $34.3 million in
2006, which represented an increase of 35.0%. or $8.9 mil-
lion, from 2005. The increase resulted primarily from $9.5
millien in higher staffing costs, including $8.0 million in
share-based compensation expense and $0.9 million in higher
expense for our annual incentive program.

Purchased in-process research and development

Purchased IPR&D expense was $1.1 million in 2006, result-
ing from the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and
assumption of certain liabilities of QED. We may make future
acquisitions and may record additional expenses for IPR&D
in connection with those acquisitions.
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Other income, net

Other income was $4.1 million in 2006, compared to $2.7
million in 2005. The increase in other income was primarily
due 1o $2.0 million greater interest income from higher inter-
est rates and our larger average balance of cash and short-
term investments, partially offset by $0.6 million of expense
associated with our investment in NanoProducts Corporation.

Provision for income taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 32.1% in 2006 and 30.2%
in 2005. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily
due to reduced research and experimentation tax credits due
to the expiration of the credit effective December 31, 2005.
In addition, we recognized reduced extraterritorial income tax
deductions related to expart sales of our products from Narth
America due to the phase-out of this tax benefit. We expoct
our effective tax rate in fiscal 2007 to be between 32 and

33 percent.

Net income

Net income was $32.9 million in 2006, which represented an
increase of 1.5%, or $0.5 million, from 2005 as a result of the
factors discussed above.

Year ended September 30, 2005,
versus year ended September 30, 2004

Revenue
Revenue was $270.5 million in 2005, which represented a
12.6%, or $38.9 million, decrease from 2004. Of this decrease,
$23.3 million was due to a decrease in sales volume and
$15.7 million was due to a decrease in weighted average sell-
ing price, primarily resulting from selected price reductions
partially offset by a higher valued product mix. Revenue for
fiscal 2005 would have been $0.7 million lower had the
average cxchange rates for the Japanese Yen and Euro during
the period held constant with the prior year's average rates.
Following a period of strong semiconductor demand in
the second half of fiscal 2004, our revenue during the first
three quarters of fiscal 2005 was adversely impacted in part
by a downturn in the semiconductor industry, which we
beliove was partially driven by a reduction in wafer starts by
some semiconductor manufacturers to reduce excess inven-
taries of certain semiconductor devices. Another factor that
adversely affected our fiscal 2005 revenue was the remaining
impact of one large customer transitioning to another supplier
of CMP slurry for polishing copper interconnects at 130
nanometer technology.

Cost of goods sold

Total cost of goods sold was $141.3 million in 2005, which
represented a decrease of 9.9%, or $15.5 million, from 2004.
Of this decrease, $11.8 million was due to lower sales volume
and $3.7 million was due to lower average costs per gallon,
primarily due to improved manufacturing yields partially
offset by higher fixed costs.
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Gross profit

QOur gross profit as a percentage of revenue was 47.8% in
2005 as compared to 49.3% in 2004. The 1.5 percentage
point decrease in gross profit margin resulted primarily from
selected price reductions and lower utilization of our manu-
facturing capacity due to the lower level of sales, partially
offset by a higher valued product mix.

Research, development and technical

Total research, development and technical expenses were
$43.0 millien in 2005, which represented a decrease of 2.3%
or $1.0 million, from 2004. The decrease is primarily related
to $1.1 million in lower expenses for clean room materials
and laboratory supplies, $0.8 million in lower technical
service and analysis fees and $0.5 million in lower facilities
costs. These decrcases were partially offset by $0.6 million in
higher depreciation expense related to equipment purchased
in 2004 for our CMP polishing and metrology clean room

in Aurora, Illinois, and $0.4 million in higher staffing costs.

Selling and marketing

Selling and marketing expenses were $17.0 million in 2005,
which represented an increase of 4.7%, or $0.8 million, over
2004. The increase resulted primarily from higher staffing
costs of $0.9 million and higher facility costs of $0.5 million.
These increases were partially offset by decreased consulting
fees of $0.4 million and lower product sample costs of $0.4
million,

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses were $25.4 million in
2005, which represented an increase of 12.1%, or $2.7 mil-
lion, from 2004. The increase resulted primarily from $1.7
million in higher staffing costs and $1.0 million of increased
professional fees primarily related to meeting the require-
ments of Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404.

Other income, net

Other income was $2.7 million in 2005, compared to $0.1
million in 2004. The increase in other income was primarily
due to $2.0 millien greater interest income from higher
interest rates and our larger average balance of cash and
short-term investments, as well as a $0,7 million increase

in foreign exchange gains.

Provision for income taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 30.2% in 2005 and 33.1%
in 2004. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily
due to higher tax-exempt interest income and the increased
effect of extraterritorial income tax credits related to export

sales from North America.

Net income

Net income was $32.5 million in 2005, which represented
a decrease of 30.5%, or $14.3 million, from 2004 as a result
of the factors discussed above.

Liquidity and capital resources

We had cash flows from operating activities of $58.7 million
in fiscal 2006, $48.0 million in fiscal 2005 and $64.2 million
in fiscal 2004. Our cash provided by operating activities in
fiscal 2006 originated from net income from operations

of $32.9 million and noncash items of $31.4 million, which
were partially offset by a net increase in working capital

of $5.7 million.

In fiscal 2006 cash flows used in investing activities were
$32.4 million. Purchases of property, plant and equipment,
primarily for the construction of our Asia Pacific technology
center and for projects in our manufacturing operations,
were made with $22.2 million in cash and $1.0 million in
accrued liabilities and accounts payable. We also completed
two acquisitions during the fiscal year for a total of $20.9
million, net of cash acquired. In addition, we used $5.0 mil-
lion to acquire patents and associated rights relating to
CMP slurry technology. Finally, $15.7 million was provided
by net sales of short-term auction rate securities. Fiscal 2005
cash flows used in investing activities were $35.7 million.
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, primarily for the
construction of our Asia Pacific technology center and other
manufacturing projects, wers made with $21.1 million in
cash and $8.2 million in accrued liabilities. In addition,
$12.6 million was used for net purchases of short-term auc-
tion rate securities in fiscal 2005 and $1.9 million was used
for the final payment for our acquisition of a minority own-
ership interest in NanoProducts Corporation. In fiscal 2004
cash flows used in investing activilies were $126.8 million,
of which $114.0 million was used for net purchases of auc-
tion rate securities. Alsa in that year, $11.0 million was used
for purchases of property, plant and equipment, including
purchases of land in Geino, Japan, manufacturing equipment
and research and development equipment. Finally, we
invested $1.8 million as partial payment for a minority own-
ership interest in NanoProducts Corporation in fiscal 2004.
We estimate that our total capital expenditures in fiscal
2007 will be approximately $17.0 million; however, we are
exploring options for providing CMP slurry manufacturing
capability in Taiwan, and depending on how we fulfill this
initiative, our capital spending could be much higher.

In fiscal 2006 cash flows used in financing activities were
$15.6 million, primarily as a result of $16.0 million in repur-
chases of common stock under our share repurchase pro-
gram and $0.9 million in principal payments under capital
lease obligations. These outflows were partially offset by the
issuance of common stock of $1.4 million primarily from
purchases under our employee stock purchase plan. In fiscal
2005 cash flows used in financing activities were $10.9 mil-
lion, primarily as a result of $17.0 million in repurchases
of common stock under our share repurchase program and
$0.9 millicn in principal payments under capital lease obli-
gations. These outflows were partially offset by the issuance
of common stock of $7.0 million from the exercise of stock
options under our equity incentive plan and purchases under
our employee stock purchase plan. In fiscal 2004 cash flows

2006 CMC 23




used in financing actvities of $6.4 million were largely a
result of repurchasing $8.0 million of common stock under
our share repurchase program and paying $0.8 miliion in
principal payments under capital lease obligations. These
outflows were partially offset by the issuance of common
stock of $3.4 million from the exercise of stock options under
our equity incentive plan and purchases under our employee
stock purchase plan.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we completed our
initial $25.0 million share repurchase program, which was
authorized in July 2004. In October 2005, our Board of
Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up
to $40.0 million of our cutstanding commeon stock. Shares
are repurchased from time to time, depending on market
conditions, in open market transactions, at management’s
discretion. We fund share repurchases from our existing cash
balance. We view the program as an effective means to return
cash to stockholders. The program became effective on the
authorization date and may be suspended or terminated at
any time, at the Company’s discretion.

We have an unsecured revolving credit and term loan with
an amended and restated unsecured revolving credit facility
of $50.0 million with an option to increase the facility up to
$80.0 million. This agreement runs through November 2008.
Interest accrues on any outstanding balance at either the
institution’s base rate or the Eurodollar rate plus an applica-
ble margin. We also pay a non-use fee. Loans under this
facility are anticipated to be used primarily for general cor-
porate purposes, including working capital and capital
expenditures. The credit agreement also contains various
covenants. No amounts are currently outstanding under this
credit facility and we believe we are currently in compliance
with the covenants.

We believe that cash generated by our operations and
available borrowings under our revolving credit facility will
be sufficient to fund our operations, expected capital expen-
ditures, including merger and acquisition activities, and share
repurchases for the foreseeable future. However, we plan to
expand our business and continue to improve our technology,
and to do so may require us to raise additional funds in the
future through public or private equity or debt financing,
strategic relationships or other arrangements.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

At September 30, 2006 and 2005, we did not have any uncon-
solidated entities or financial partnerships, which might have
been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements, such as entities often referred to as struc-
tured finance or special purpose entities.
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Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations

The following summarizes our contractual obligations at
September 30, 2006, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future
periods.

Contractual obligations

Less than 1-3 4-5  After 5
(In millions) Total 1 year years years years
Capital lease
obligations $ 57 $13 g22 $2.2 $ -
Cperating leases 26 1.3 1.2 0.1 -
Purchase obligations 425 320 7.3 29 0.3
Cther long-term
liabilities 1.1 - - - 1.1
Total contractual
obligaticns $51.9 $346 3107 $5.2 S1.4

Capital lease obligations

In December 2001, we entered into a fumed alumina supply
agreement with Cabot Corporation under which we agreed to
pay Cabaot Corporation for the expansion of a fumed alumina
manufacturing facility in Tuscola, Illinois. The payments for
the facility have been treated as a capital lease for accounting
purposes and the present value of the minimum quarterly
payments resulted in an initial $9.8 million lease obligation
and related leased asset. The agreement’s first term runs
through Decermnber 2006 and it has been renewed for another
five-year term ending in December 2011.

Operating leases

We lease certain vehicles, warehouse facilities, office space,
machinery and equipment under cancelable and noncance-
lable operating leases, most of which expire within ten years
of thair respective commencement dates and may be
renewed by us.

Purchase obligations

We have entered into multi-year supply agreements with
Cabot Corporation for the purchase of fumed metal oxides.
We purchase fumed silica primarily under a fumed silica
supply agreement with Cabot Corporation that became effec-
tive in January 2004, and was amended in September 2006,
The agreement has an initial six-year term that runs through
December 2009 and will automatically renew unless either
party gives certain notice of non-renewal. We are obligated
to purchase fumed silica for at least 90% of our six-month
volume forecast for certain of our slurry products, to pur-
chase certain non-material minimum quantities every six
months, and to pay for the shortfall if we purchase less than
these amounts. We currently anticipate meeting minimum
forecasted purchase volume requirements. Since December
2001, we have purchased fumed alumina primarily under

a fumed alumina supply agreement with Cabot Corporation
that has an original term ending in December 2006 and has
been renewed for another five-year term ending in December
2011. Prices charged for fumed alumina from Cabot




Corporation are pursuant to the terms of the supply agree-
ment and may fluciuate based upon the actual costs incurred
by Cabot Corporation in the manufacture of fumed alumina.
Under these agreements, Cabot Corporation continues to be
the exclusive supplier of certain quantities and types of
fumed silica and fumed alumina for products we produced
as of the effective dates of these agreements. Subject to cer-
tain terms, these agreements prohibit Cabot Corporation from
selling fumed silica and fumed alumina to third parties for
use in CMP applications, as well as engaging itself in CMP
applications. if Cabot Corporation fails to supply us with our
requirements for any reason, including if we require product
specificalion changes that Cabot Corporation cannot meet,

we have the right to purchase products meeting those speci-
fications from other suppliers, We also may purchase raw
materials from other suppliers for products we have produced
since the effective dale of these agreements. Purchase obliga-
tions include an aggregate amount of $22.0 million of con-
tractual commitments related to our Cahot Corporation
agreements for fumed silica and fumed alumina.

We paid $19.0 million in cash related to our July 2006
QED acquisition, and we are obligated to pay up to an addi-
tional $4.5 million depending upon the performance of the
QED businuss over the two years following the purchase.
Contractual obligations at September 30, 2006, include $4.5
million in contingent pavments related to this agreement.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures ahout Markef Risk

Effect of currency exchange rates and exchange rate
risk management

We conduct business operations outside of the United States
through our foreign operations. Some of our foreign opera-
tions maintain their accounting records in their local curren-
cies. Consequently, period to period comparability of results
of operations is affected by fluctuations in exchange rates.
The primary currencies to which we have exposure are the
Japanese Yen and, to a lessor extent, the British Pound and
the Eure. From time to time we enter into forward contracts
in an effort to manage fareign currency exchange exposure.
However, we may be unable to hedge these exposures com-
pletely. Approximately 14% of our revenue is transacted

in currencies other than the 11.8. dollar. We do not currently
enter into forward exchange contracts or other derivative
instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

Market risk and sensitivity analysis related to foreign
exchange rate risk

We have performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypo-
thetical 10% adverse movement in foreign exchange rates.
As of September 30, 2006, the analysis demonstrated that
such market movements would not have a material adverse
effect on our consolidated financial position, results of oper-
atjons or cash flows over a one-year period. Actual gains
and losses in the future may differ materially from this
analysis based on changes in the timing and amount of
foreign currency rate movements and our actual exposures.

Item 8. Consalidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

index to consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

Consofidated financial statements: page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 26
Consdlidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004. a7
Consclidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2006 and 2005 28
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 20086, 2005 and 2004 29
Consalidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Eguity for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2005 and 2004 30
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents 31
Selected Quarterly Operating Results 43
Financial statement schedule:

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 44

All ather schedules are omitted, because they are not required, are not applicable, or the information is included

in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounling Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation:

We have compleled integrated audits of Gabot Microelectronics
Corporation’s 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial state-
ments and of its internal contrel aver financial reporting as
of September 30, 2006, and an audit of its 2004 consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States).
Our opinians, based on our audits, are presented below,

Consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed
in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material
respects. the financial position of Cabot Microelectronics
Corporation and its subsidiaries at September 30, 2006 and
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended Soptember 30,
2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accom-
panying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth thercin when read in conjunction with
the related consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
financial statement schedule based on our audits. We con-
ducted our audits of these statements in accordance with

the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes
examining, on a lest basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statemenis, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 10 to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, the Company began recording share-based
compensation expense in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No.123(R) “Share-Based
Payment” on QOctober 1, 2005.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also. in our opinion, management's assessment, included

in Management's Report on internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 2006 based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committce

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
{COSQ), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company
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maintained, in all material respects, effoctive internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Frame-
work issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility
is to express opinions on managernent’s assessment and

on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit. We conducled our
audit of internal control over financial reporting in accor-
dance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board {United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit
of internal control over financial reporting inchudes obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we consider neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includes those poli-
cies and procedures that {i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; {ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary lo permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with suthorizations of
management and directors of the company: and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Chicago, lllinois /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Novernber 28, 2006




Year ended September 30,
In thousands, except per share amounis 2006 2005 2004
Revenue $320,795 $270.484 $309,433
Cost of gooeds sold” 171,758 141,282 156,805
Gross profit 149,037 129,202 152,628
Operating expenses:
Research, development and technical” 48,070 43,010 44,003
Selling and marketing* 21,115 16,989 16,225
Generat and administrative” 34,319 25427 22,691
Purchased in-process research and development 1,120 - -
Total aperating expenses 104,624 85,426 82,919
Operating income 44,413 43,776 69,709
Cther income, net 4111 2747 139
Income betore income taxes 48,524 45,523 69,848
Provision for income taxes” 15,576 14,050 23,120
Net income $ 32,948 $ 32473 $ 46,728
Basic earnings per share § 136 $ 132 $ 189
Weighted average basic shares outstanding 24,228 24,563 24,750
Diluted earnings per share $ 136 $ 132 $ 188
Weighted average diluted shares ouistanding 24,228 248612 24,882
*Includes the following amounts related 1o

share-based compensalion expense:

Cost of goods sold $ 648 3 - $ -
Research, development and technical 959 - -
Selling and marketing 1,037 - -
General and administrative 8,020 - -
Tax benefit (3,809) - -

Total share-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 6,855 3 - $ -

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these consolidated linancial stalements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Cabot Microelectronics Gorporation

September 30,
In thousands, except share and per share amounts 2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 54,965 $ 44,436
Short-term investments 110,965 126,605
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtiul accounts of $551
at September 30, 2006, and $470 at September 30, 2005 48,028 36,759
Inventories 40,326 28,797
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,785 5970
Deferred income taxes 2,436 3,240
Total current assets 261,505 245,807
Property, plant and equipment, net 130,176 135,784
Goodwill 4,565 1,373
Other intangible assets, net 11,447 -
Other long-term assets 4,440 3,799
Total assets $412,133 $386,763
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 15104 $ 10,236
Capilal lease obligations 1,254 1,170
Accrued expenses, income taxes payable and other current liabilities 22,475 24,216
Total current liabilities 38,833 35622
Capital lease obligations 4,420 5,436
Deterred income taxes - 4,967
Other long-term liabilities 1,109 1,654
Total liabitities 44,362 47 679
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock;
Authorized: 200,000,000 shares, $0.001 par value
Issued: 25,254,719 shares at September 30, 2006,
and 25,198,809 shares at September 30, 2005 24 24
Capital in excess of par value of comman stack 157,463 145,011
Retained earnings 251,007 218,059
Accumulated cther comprehensive income 272 1,160
Unearned compensation - {(171)
Treasury stock at cost, 1,297,167 shares at September 30, 2006,
and 774,020 shares at September 30, 2005 {40,995) (24,999)
Total stockholders’ equity 367,711 339,084
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $412,133 $386,763

The accompanying notes are an integral pant of these consolidated financial staternents.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Cabot Microelectronics Corporation
Year ended September 30,
In thousands 2006 2005 2004
Cash fiows from operaling activities:
Net income $ 32,948 $ 32,473 $ 46,728
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amertization 21,174 19,072 17,611
Purchased in-process research and development 1,120 - -
Loss on equity investment 566 330 73
Share-based compensation expense 10,664 312 67
Income tax benefit on exercises of stock options - 1,288 967
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (5.571) (2.417) 1,119
Non-cash fereign exchange {gain}/loss 2,606 1,079 (3
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,109 363 58
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 790 657 -
Other (1,081) 299 (471)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (8,492) 3.802 (3,166)
Inventories (5,635) (4,760) (326)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,726 (2,824) (308)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other current liabilities 7,166 (2,847} 567
Income taxes payable, deferred compensation and other noncurrent liabilities (422) 1,035 1,294
Net cash provided by operating aclivities 58,668 47,962 64,210
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment (22,230) (21,137) (10,968)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 19 6 15
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired {20,919) - -
Purchase of patents (5,000} - -
Purchases of equity investments - {1,930} (1.820)
Purchases of short-term investments (185,655) (141,570) (184,040)
Proceeds from the sale of shori-lerm investments 201,392 128,975 70,030
Net cash used in investing activities (32,393) {35,656) (126,783)
Cash flows from financing aclivities:
Repurchases of common stock (15,996) (16,299) (8,000)
Net proceeds from issuance of stock 1,359 6,983 3,385
Principal paymenis under capital lease obligations {933) (869) (815)
Net cash used in financing activities {15,570) (10,885) {5.430)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (176) {293) (7)
Increase {decrease) in cash 10,529 1,128 (68.010) I
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 44,436 43,308 111,318
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 54,965 $ 44,436 $ 43,308
Suppiemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 21,745 $ 14014 £ 19,554
Cash paid for interest $ 658 3 596 3 668

Supplernental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment in accrued liabilities
and accounts payable at end of period $ 968 $ 8204 3 -

Issuance of restricted stock s 63 $ 125 $ 25

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated finanicial stalements.

2006 CMC 29




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Cabot Microelectranics Corporation

Capital other
Common in excess Retained comprehensive  Comprebensive Unearned Treasury

in thousands stock of par earnings income income  compensaticn stock Total
Balance at September 30, 2003 $25 $131.913 $138,858 $1,187 82100 $ - $271,773
Exercise of stock options 2,232 2,232
Tax benefit on stock options exercised 867 967
Amortization of unearned compensation

on restricted stock 76 76
Issuance of Cabot Microelectronics restricted

stock under deposit share plan 75 {25) 50
Forfeiture of Cabot Microelectronics

restricted stock (15) 15 -
Reverse amortization refated to restricted

stock forfeited (@) 5]
Issuance of Cabot Microelectronics stock

under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 1,087 1,087
Purchase of treasury stock, at cost (8,000) (8.000)
Net income 46,728 $46,728
Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments (10) (10}
Foreign currency translation adjustment 728 728
Total comprehensive income $47,446 A7 448
Balance at September 30, 2004 $25 3$136,259 $185586 $1,905 $(153) § (8.000) $315622
Exercise of stock options 5,655 5,655
Tax benelit on stock options exercised 1,288 1,288
Amortization of unearned compensation

on restricted stock 106 106
Issuance of Caboi Microelectronics restricted

stock under depaosit share plan 376 (125} 251
Forfeiture of Cabot Microglectronics

resiricted stock 5 5 -
Reverse amortization related to restricted

stock forfeited (4} (4
Issuance of Cabot Microglectronics stock under

directors’ deferred compensation Plan 374 374
Issuance of Cabet Microelectronics stock

under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 1,064 1,064
Purchase of treasury stock, at cost (1) (16,229)  (17,000)
Net income 32473 $32,473
Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments 35 35
Fareign currency translation adjustment 780 (780)
Total comprehensive income $31,728 31,728
Balance at September 30, 2005 $24  $14501% $218,059 $1,160 $(171) $(24,999) $339,084
Reclassification of unearned compensation

upon adoption of SFAS 123R (171) 171 -
Reclassification of directors’ deferred

compensation upon adoption

of SFAS 123R 600 600
Issuance of Cabot Microelectronics stock

under deposit share plan 137 137
Issuance of Cabot Microelectronics stock

under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 1,222 1,222
Share-based compensation expense 10,664 10,664
Purchase of treasury stock, at cost {15,996) (15,996)
Net income 32,948 $32,948
Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments 36 36
Foreign currency translation adjusiment {924) (924)
Total comprehensive income $32,060 32,060
Balance at September 30, 2006 $24 $157,463 $251,007 $ 272 $ - $(40,995) $367,771

The accompanying notas arg an integral part of these consolidated linancial staterments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Cabot Microelegtronics Corporation

in thousands, excepl share and per share amounts

Note 1. Background and basis of presentation

Cabot Microelectronics Corporation (“Cabot Microelectronics’,
“the Gompany’, “us’;, “we” or “our”) supplies high-perform-
ance polishing slurries used in the manufacture of advanced
integrated circuit {IC) devices within the semiconductor
industry, in a process called chemical mechanical planariza-
tion (CMP). We believe we are the world's leading supplier
of these slurries. We also develop, manufacture and sell
CMP slurries for polishing certain components in hard disk
drives, specifically rigid disk substrates and magnetic heads,
and we believe we are one of the leading suppliers in this
area. In addition, we are developing and commercializing
CMP polishing pads, which are used in conjunction with
slurries in the CMP process. We also pursue a variety of
surface modification applications outside of the semiconduc-
tor and hard disk drive industries for which our capabilities
and knowledge may provide improved productivity or
previously unseen surface performance.

CMP is a polishing process used by IC device manufactur-
ers to planarize or flatten many of the multiple layers of
malerial that are built upon silicon wafers in the production
of advanced 1Cs. In this polishing process, CMP slurries and
pads are used to level, smooth and remove excess material
from the surfaces of these layers, while leaving minimal
residue or defects on the surface. CMP slurries are liquid
solutions generally composed of high-purity deionized
water, proprietary chemical additives and engineered abra-
sives that chemically and mechanically interact with the
surface material of the IC device al an atomic level. CMP
enables IC device manufacturers to produce smaller, faster
and more complex IC devices with fewer defects. We believe
CMP will continue to be important in the future as manufac-
turers continue to shrink the size of these devices and to
improve their performance.

The audited consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by Cabot Microelectronics pursuant to the rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. We operate predominantly in one industry segment
—the development, manufacture, and sale of CMP slurries.
Certain reclassifications of prior fiscal year amounts have
been made to conform to the current period presentation.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Cabot Microelectronics and its subsidiaries. All intercom-
pany transactions and balances between the companies have
been eliminated.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements and related disclo-
sures in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America requires manage-
ment to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial
stalements and accompanying notes. The accounting esti-
mates that require management's most difficult and subjec-
tive judgments include, but are not limited to, those estimates
related to bad debt expense. warranty obligations, inventory
valuation, impairment of long-lived assets and investments.
business combinations, goodwill, other intangible assets,
share-based compensation, income taxes and contingencies.
We base our estimates on historical experience, current con-
ditions and on various other assumptions that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, future
events are subject to change and the best estimates and judg-
ments routinely require adjustment. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions

or conditions.

Cash, cash equivalents and shori-term investments

We consider investments in all highly liquid financial instru-
ments with original maturities of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. Short-term investments include securities
generally having maturities of 90 days to one year. As of
September 30, 2006, we held approximately $110,965 of
short-term investments which consisted of auction rate secu-
rities classified as available-for-sale securities. Our investment
in these securities is recorded at cost, which approximates
fair market value due to their variable interest rates, which
lypically reset every seven to 28 davs, and despite the long-
term nature of their stated contractual maturities, we have
the ability to quickly liquidate these securities. As a result,
there were no cumulative gross unrealized holding gains
(losses) or gross realized gains (losses) from these short-term
investmonts, and all income generated from these short-term
investments was recorded as interest income.

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced
amount and do not bear interest. We maintain an allowance
for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from
the potential inability of our customers to make required
payvments. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
historical collection experience, adjusted for any specific
known conditions or circumstances. Accounlt balances are
recorded against the allowance when we believe that it is
probable that the receivable will not be recovered.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of
credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable. We per-
form ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial
conditions and generally do not require collateral to secure
accounts receivable. OQur exposure to credit risk associated
with nonpayment is affected principally by conditions or
occurrences within the semiconductor industry and global
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economy. We historically have not experienced material
losses relating to accounts receivables from individual cus-
lomers or groups of customers and maintain an allowance
for doubtful accounts based on an assessment of the collecti-
bility of such accounts.

The portions of revenue from customers who represented
more than 10% of revenue were as follows:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Marketech 19% 35% 32%
Taiwan Semiconductor
Manufacturing Co. (TSMC) 10% - -

In April 2006 we began selling our products directly to
customers in Taiwan, rather than through Marketech, an
independent distributor. We continue to use Marketech as our
distributor in China. Prior to April 2006, we sold product to
TSMC through Marketech.

The two customers above accounted for 16.2% and 10.7%
of net accounts receivable at September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Fair values of financial instruments
The recorded amounts of cash, accounts receivable and
accounts payable approximate their fair values.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis, or market. Finished goods
and work in process inventories include material, labor and
manufacturing overhead costs. We regularly review and
write down the value of inventory for estimated obsolescence
or unmarketability. An inventory reserve is maintained based
upon a historical percentage of actual inventory written off
applied against inventory at the end of the period, adjusted
for known conditions and circumstances.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Deprecia-
tion is generally based on the following estimated useful
lives of the assets using the straight-line method:

Buildings 15-25 years
Machinery and equipment 3-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years
Information systems 3-5years

Assets under capital leases  Term of lease or estimated useful life

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to
expense as incurred. Expenditures for major renewals and
betterments are capitalized and depreciated over the remain-
ing useful lives. As assets are retired or sold, the related cost
and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts
and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of
operations. Costs related to internal use software are capital-
ized in accordance with American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Statement of Position No. 98-1, “Account-
ing for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use”
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Impairment of long-lived assets

Reviews are regularly performed to determine whether facts
and circumstances exist that indicate the carrying amount
of assets may not be recoverable or the useful life is shorter
than originally estimated. Assel recoverability is assessed by
comparing the projected undiscounted cash flows associated
with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining
lives against their respective carrying amounts. Impairment,
if any, is based on the excess of the carrying amount over
the fair value of those assets. If assets are determined to be
recoverable, but their useful lives are shorter than originally
estimated, the net hook value of the asset is depreciated
over the newly determined remaining useful life.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations” (SFAS
141), and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets', intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over
their estimated useful lives, which range from two to ten
years for our Company. Goodwill and indefinite lived intan-
gible assets are tested annually or more frequently if indica-
tors of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based
approach. We determined that goodwill and other intangible
assets were not impaired as of September 30, 2006.

Warranty reserve

We maintain a warranty reserve that reflects management’s
best estimate of the cost to replace product that does not
meet customers’ specifications and performance require-
ments, and costs related to such replacement. The warranty
reserve is based upon a historical product return rate, adjusted
for any specific known conditions or circumstances.
Adjustments to the warranty reserve are recorded in cost

of goods sold.

Foreign currency translation

Certain operating activities in Europe and Asia are denormni-
nated in local currency. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of
these operations are translated using exchange rates in effect
at the end of the year, and revenue and costs are translated
using weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
related translation adjustments are reported in comprehen-
sive income in stockholders’ equity.

Foreign exchange management

We transact business in various foreign currencies, primarily
the Japanese Yen, British Pound and the Euro. Our exposure
to foreign currency exchange risks has not been significant
because maost of our sales are denominated in U.S. dollars.
Periodically we enter into forward foreign exchange contracts
in an effort to mitigate the risks associated with currency
fluctuations on certain foreign currency balance sheet expo-
sures. Our foreign exchange contracts do not qualify for
hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities’; as amended
by SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement 133 on Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities’, and SFAS No. 52, “Foreign




Currency Translation” (SFAS 52); therefore, the gains and
losses resulting from the impact of currency exchange rate
movements on our forward foreign exchange contracts are
recognized as other income or expense in the accompanying
consolidated income statements in the period in which the
exchange rates change. These gains and losses are intended
lo partially offset the foreign currency exchange gains and
losses on the underlying exposures being hedged. Foreign
exchange gains and losses were a gain of $265, a gain of $359
and a loss of $337 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

We do not currently use derivative financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes. In addition, all deriva-
tives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not,
are required to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value,
At September 30, 2006, we had one forward foreign exchange
contract selling Japanese Yen related to an intercompany
note with one of our subsidiaries in Japan and for the purpose
of hedging the risk associated with a net transactional expo-
sure in Japanese Yen (refer to “Intercompany Loan Account-
ing” in this section}.

Intercompany loan accounting

We maintain intercompany loan agreements with our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Nihon Cabot Microelectronics K.K.

(“the K.K."), under which we provided funds to the K.K.

to finance the purchase of certain assets from our former
Japanese branch at the time of the establishment of this sub-
sidiary, for the purchase of land adjacent to our Geino, Japan,
facility and for the construction of our Asia Pacific technology
center, all of which are part of the K.K., as well as for general
business purposes. Since settlement of the notes is expected
in the foreseeable future, and our subsidiary has been consis-
lently making timely payments on the loans, the loans are
considered foreign-currency transactions under SFAS 52.
Therefore the associated foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognized as other income or expense rather than being
deferred in the cumulative translation account in other com-
prehensive income.

Purchase commitments

We have entered into unconditional purchase obligations,
which include noncancelable purchase commitments and
take-or-pay arrangements with suppliers. We review our
agreements and make an assessment of the likelihood of
a shortfall in purchases and determine if it is necessary to
record a liability.

Revenue recognition

Revenue for CMP consumable products is recognized when
title is transferred to the customer, which usually occurs upon
shipment, but depends on the terms and conditions of the
particular customer arrangement, provided acceptance and
collectibility are reasonably assured. For example, revenue
related to inventory held on consignment at a customer site
is recognized as the products are consumed by the customer.
A provision for the estimated warranty cost is recarded at the
time revenue is recognized based on our historical experience.

In our income statement, we report revenues net of any
value-added tax or other such tax assessed by a governmental
authority on our revenue-producing activities.

Shipping and handling
Costs related to shipping and handling are included in cost
of goods sold.

Research, development and technical

Research, development and technical costs are expensed as
incurred and consist primarily of staffing costs, materials
and supplies, depreciation, utilities and other facilities costs.

Income taxes

Current income taxes are determined based on estimated
taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current year.
Deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated
future tax effects of differences between financial staterment
carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and
liahilities. Provisions are made for the U.S. and any non-U.S.
deferred income tax liability or benefit.

Share-based compensation

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R}), which requires
all share-based payments, including stock option grants,
restricted stock and employee stock purchases, to be recog-
nized in the income stalement based on their fair values.
SFAS 123R supersedes our previous accounting for share-
based compensation under Accounting Principles Board
{APB) Opinion No. 23, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (APB 25), and related interpretations, as allowed
under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compen-
sation” (SFAS 123), and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure”
(SFAS 148). Under SFAS 123R, the pro forma disclosure
alternative permitted under SFAS 123 and SFAS 148 is no
longer allowable. We adopted SFAS 123R using the modified
prospective transition method as permitted by SFAS 123R;
therefore, we have not restated our financial results for

prior periods. Under this transition method, share-based
compensation expense for fiscal 2006 includes compensation
expense for all share-based compensation awards granted
prior to, but not yet vested as of September 30, 2005, based
on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the
original provisions of SFAS 123. Share-based compensation
expense for all share-based awards granted suhsequent to
September 30, 2005, was based on the grant-date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R.
Under SFAS 123R, we continue to attribute share-based
compensation expense using the straight-line approach
based on awards ultimately expected to vest, which requires
the use of an estimated forfeiture rate. Forfeitures were esti-
mated based on historical experience. In addition, we con-
tinue to use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model {“Black-
Scholes model”} to estimate grant date fair value, which
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, includ-
ing the option’s expected life and the price volatility of the
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underlying stock. A small change in the underlying assump-
tions can have a relatively large effect on the estimated
valuation and resulting expense recorded in the income
statement.

For additional information regarding our siock-based
compensation plans, refer to Note 10.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing net
income available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted EPS is calculated by using the weighted
average number of common shares cutstanding during the
period increased to include the weighted average dilutive
effect of “in-the-money” stock options using the treasury
stock method.

Compensation income

Comprehensive income differs from net income due to foreign
currency translation adjustments and net unrealized gains
and losses on derivative instruments.

Effects of recent accounting pronouncements

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
(SAB) No.108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstate-
ments when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements™ (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides inter-
pretive guidance on how the effects of the carryover or rever-
sal of prior year misstatements should be considered in
quantifying a current year misstatement. The SEC staff
believes that registrants should quantity errors using both a
balance sheet and an income statement approach and evalu-
ate whether either approach results in quantifying a mis-
statement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative
factors are considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective for
fiscal years ending after November 15, 2007. We do not
expect the adoption of SAB 108 to have a material impact
on our consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,

“Fair Value Measuremenlt” (SFAS 157), SFAS 157 establishes
a common definition for fair value in generally accepted
accounting principles, establishes a framework for measuring
fair value and expands disclosure about such fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years begin-
ning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating
the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our consolidated finan-
cial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB State-
ments No. 87, 88, 106, and 132{R)"” {SFAS 158). SFAS 158
requires an employer that sponsors one or more single-
employer defined benefit plans to: a) recognize the overfunded
or underfunded status of a henefit plan in its statement
of financial position; b) recognize as a component of other
comprehensive income, net of tax, any remaining unamor-
tized transition obligation upon adoption as well as the gains
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or losses and prior service costs or credits that have not

yet been recognized as components of net periodic benefit
cost pursuant to SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions', or SFAS No. 106, “Employers' Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”; ¢) measure
defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date

of the employer's fiscal vear-end; and d) disclose in the notes
to financial statements additional information about certain
effects on net periodic benefit cast for the next fiscal year
that arise from delayed recognition of the gains or losses,
prior service costs or credits and transition asset or obliga-
tion. This statement is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact
of adopting SFAS 158 on our consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations and cash flows.

In July 2008, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
“ Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpreta-
tion of FASB Statement 109" (FIN 48), which clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This interpreta-
tion sets farth a recognition threshold and measurement ele-
ment for the recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken an a tax return, This interpre-
tation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting
FIN 48 on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached
by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) in Issue No. 06-3,
“How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income
Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)” (EITF
06-3). The scope of this issue includes any tax assessed by
a goverunental authority that is directly imposed on a
revenue-producing activity between a seller and a customer
and may include, but is not limited to, sales, use, value-
added, and some excise taxes. EITF 06-3 indicates that the
income statement presentation of these taxes on a gross or
net basis is an accounting policy decision that should be
disclosed in a company’s financial statements. EITF 06-3 is
effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of
EITF 06-3 to have an impact on our consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2005, the FASE issued FASB Staff Position
{FSP) Nos. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temnporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments” (FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1). This FSP
addresses the determination as to when an investment is
considered impaired, whether that impairment is other than
temporary, and the measurement of an impairment loss.

It also includes accounting considerations subsequent to

the recognition of other-than-temporary impairments. The
FSP applies to reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2005. The adoption of FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1 did not
impact our consolidated financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.




In September 2005, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 04-13,
*Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the
Same Counterparty” (ETTF 04-13). The EITF concludes that
two or more legally separate exchange transactions with the
same counterparty should be combined and considered as
a single arrangement for purposes of applying Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion Na. 29, “Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions”] when the transactions are entered
into in contemplation of one another. Furthermore, when
two transactions are considered a single arrangement, the
assets exchanged should be accounted for at fair value.

The EITF is effective for transactions completed in reporting
periods beginning after March 15, 2006. The adoption of
EITF 04-13 did not impact our consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 3. Inventories
Inventories consisted of the following:

September 3C,

2006 2005
Raw materials $18,623 $17,923
Work in process 1,805 562
Finished gcods 19,898 10,312
Total $40,326 $28,797

Note 4. Property, plant and equipment
Praperty, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,

2006 2005

Land $ 16,675 § 16,623
Buildings 62,465 651,321
Machinery and equipment 112,117 93,114
Furniture and fixtures 5,146 4757
Information systems 12,742 11,354
Capital leases 9,890 9,890
Construction in progress 4,809 14,642
Total property, plant and equipment 223,844 211,701
Less: accumulated depreciation and

amortization of assets under

capital leases {93,668) (75,917)
Net property, plant and equipment $130,176 $135,784

Depreciation expense, including amortization of assets
recorded under capital leases, was $20,501, $18,817 and
$17,271 for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, we recorded $790 in impairment expense
primarily related to the decision to no longer use a portion

of a building in Aurocra, Illinois, that was previously used for
research and development activities. Of this amount, $133
and $657 is included in cost of goods sold and research and
development expense, respectively. In fiscal 2005, we
recarded $657 in impairment expense primarily related to
certain pieces of equipment that became ohsolete before the
end of the assets’ estimated useful life. Of this amount,

$444, $112 and $101 is included in cost of goods sold, sell-
ing and marketing expense and research and development
expense, respectively.

Note 5. Business combinations

In accordance with SFAS 141, we account for all business
combinations by the purchase method of accounting. Accord-
ingly, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities are
recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisi-
tion. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price
over the fair value of net assets and amounts assigned to
identifiable intangible assets. 'urchased in-process research
and development (IPR&D), for which technological feasibility
has not yet been established and no future alternative uses
exist, is expensed immediately in accordance with SFAS 141.

Through our Engineered Surface Finishes (ESF) initiative,
we are exploring a variety of surface modification applica-
tions where we believe our technical ability to shape, enable
and enhance the performance of surfaces at an atomic level
may provide improved productivity or previously unseen
surface performance. By supplementing our internal devel-
opment efforts with some externally acquired technologies
and businesses, we seek to Jeverage our expertise in CMP
slurry formulation, materials and polishing techniques for
the semiconductor industry to address other demanding
market applications requiring nanoscale control of surface
shape and finish, and gain access 1o a variety of markets that
we do not currently serve.

In October 2005, we purchased substantially all of the
assets and assumed certain liahilities of Surface Finishes Co.,
Inc. {“Surface Finishes”), a privately-held company that
specializes in precision machining techniques at the sub-
nanameter level, as well as associated real property from a
related trust. The total cash purchase price, subject to certain
terms and conditions, was approximately $2,282, of which
$1,450 was allocated to net tangible assets and 3832 was
allacated to intangible assets and goodwill based on estimated
fair values. The acquisition was accounied for as a purchase
transaction with results of operations included in the consol-
idated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

In July 2006, we acquired substantially all of the assets
and certain associated proprietary technolegy and intellectual
property of QED Technologies, Inc. (QED), and assumed
certain of its current liabilities. QED, which had been a
privately-held company, specializes in unique, patented
polishing and metrology systems for shaping and polishing
high precision optics. At the July 2006 closing of the transac-
tion, we paid $19,000 in cash plus $303 of transaction costs
from our available cash balance, and we may pay up to an
additional $4,500 depending upon the performance of the
QED business over the two years following the purchase.
The purchase price was allocated to tangible assets, liabilities
assumed, identified intangible assets acquired, as well as
IPR&D, based on their estimated fair values. The excess of
the purchase price over the aggregate fair values was recorded
as goodwill.
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The following table summarizes the total purchase
price allocation.

At July 7, 2006

Current assets $10,610
Long-term assets 2,197
In-process research and development 1,120
Identified intangible assets 6,890
Goodwill 2,496
Total assets acquirad 23,313
Total current liabilities assumed 4,010
Net assets acquired $19,303

Results of QED’s operations from July 7, 2006, through
the end of our fiscal year are included in our consolidated
financial statements. Pro forma results of operations for
Surface Finishes and QED have not been presented because
the effects of the acquisitions were not material to the
Company’s results.

Note 6. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill was $4,565 and $1,373 as of September 30, 2006

and 2005, respectively. The increase in goodwill relates to our

QED and Surface Finishes acquisitions during fiscal 2006.
The components of other intangible assets are as follows:

September 30, 2006 September 30, 2005
Gross carrying  Accumulated  Gross carrying - Accumulated

2006, In connection with our acquisition of QED, we pur-
chased $1,120 of IPR&D related to one project. The amount
allocated to IPR&D was determined through established val-
uation techniques in the high-technology industry and was
expensed upon acquisition because technological feasibility
had not yet been established and no future alternative uses
exist. Research and development costs to bring the product
to technological feasibility are not expected to have a material
impact on our future results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2006 we purchased nine CMP slurry patents from
the International Business Machines Corperation (IBM) for a
cost of $5,000, which is being amortized over approximately
2.7 years.

Amortization expense was $673 and $255 for fiscal 2006
and 2005, respectively. Estimated future amortization
expense for the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows:

Fiscal Year Estimated amorlization expense
2007 $2.580
2008 2,538
2009 1,363
2010 554
2011 547

Note 7. Other long-term assets
Other long-term assets consisted of the following:

September 30,

amount  amortization amount  amortization 2006 2005
Cther intangible Investmant in NanoProducts Corporation $2,446 $3,347
assels su_b;ec! fo Non-current deferred income tax asset 1,365 -
amortization: Other | ) 620 452
-term asse
Product fechnology  § 5,380 § 135 $ - 0§ - e longt s
Acquired patents 5,000 479 - - Total 84,440 $3,729
Trade secrets i . ,
and know-how 2,550 2550 2550 2 650 During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, and following
Distribution a recapitalization of the ownership of NanoProducts Corpora-
rights, customer tion (NPC), we changed our method of accounting for our
lists and ofher 1,857 1,059 1,000 1000 investment in NPC from the equity method to the cost
Total other method, since we concluded that we no longer had the ability
intangible assets to significantly influence the operating and financial policies
subject to sp o 1s
amortization 14.387 4223 3 550 3550 of NPC. We evaluate annually or more frequently if indica-
- tors of potential impairment exist, the estimated fair value
ota! other . R
intangible assets (.Jf our 1nvest.ment to determine .1f an other-than-temporary
not subject to impairment in the value of our investment has taken place.
amartization® 1,283 - No write down was recorded in fiscal 2006.
Total other
intangible assets $15,670 $4,223 $3.550 $3,650

* Total cther imangible assets not subject to amartization primarily
consist of trade names.

Additions to other intangible assets were primarily attrib-

utable to our acquisitions of substantially all of the assets
and certain liabilities of QED and Surface Finishes in fiscal
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Note 8. Accrued expenses, income taxes payable and other
current liabilities

Accrued expenses, income taxes payable and other current
liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30,

2006 2005
Accrued compensation $12,948 $ 9,569
Raw materials accrual 3,088 1,939
Warranty accrual 924 1,426
Fixed asset accrual 60 8,204
Income taxes payable 764 1,290
Other 4,691 1,788
Total $22,475 $24,216

Note 9. Revolving credit facility

We have an unsecured revolving credit facility of $50,000
with an option to increase the facility up to $80,000. Under
this agreement, which terminates in November 2008, interest
accrues on any outstanding balance at either the institution’s
base rate or the Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin.

A non-use fee also accrues. Loans under this facility are
anticipated to be used primarily for general corporate pur-
poses, including working capital and capital expenditures.
The credit agreement also contains various covenants. No
amounts are currently outstanding under this credit facility
and we believe we are currently in compliance with its
covenants.

Note 10. Share-based compensation plans

Equily incentive plan

In March 2004, our stockholders approved our Second
Amended and Restated Cabot Microelectronics Corporation
2000 Equity Incentive Plan [the “Plan”}), which is adminis-
tered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors and is intended to provide enough shares to give
us ongoing flexibility to attract, retain and reward our
employees, directors, consultants and advisors. The Plan
allows for the granting of four types of equity incentive
awards: stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units
and substitute awards. Substitute awards are those awards
that, in connection with an acquisition by us, may be granted
to employees, directors, consultants or advisors of the
acquired company, in substitution for equity incentives held
by them in the seller or the acquired company. No substitute
awards have been granted to date. The Plan authorizes up

to 9,500,000 shares of stock to be granted thereunder, includ-
ing up to 1,900,000 shares in aggregate of restricted stock

or restricted stock units and up to 1,750,000 incentive stock
options (ISO).

Non-qualified stock options issued under the Plan are
generally time-based and provide for a ten-year term, with
options generally vesting equally over a four-year period,
with first vesting on the first anniversary of the grant date.
Compensation expense related to our stock option awards

was $9,826 in fiscal 2006. Prior lo fiscal 2006 we accounted
for share-based compensation under APB 25, which pre-
scribed an intrinsic value method for valuing stock options.
In fiscal 2005 and 2004 no compensation expense was
recorded with respect to stock options as all opticns granted
had an exercise price equal to the market value of the under-
lying common stock on the date of the grant. For additional
information on our accounting for share-based compensa-
tion, see Note 2 to consolidated financial statements. Under
the Plan, employees and non-cmployees may also be granted
ISOs to purchase common stock at not less than the fair
value on the date of the grant, of which none have been
granted to date.

Under the Plan, emplovees and non-employees may be
granted shares of restricted stock or restricted stock units at
the discretion of the Compensation Committee. In general,
shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units may not
be sold. assigned, transferred, pledged, disposed of or other-
wise encumbered. Holders of restricted stock, and restricted
stock units if specified in the award agreements, have all the
rights of stockholders, including voting and dividend rights,
subject to the above restrictions. Restricted shares under the
Plan may be purchased and placed “on deposit” by execu-
tive officers pursuant to the 2001 Deposit Share Plan. Shares
purchased under this Deposit Share Plan receive a 50%
match in restricted shares, which vest at the end of a three-
year period, and are subject to forfeiture upon early with-
drawal of the deposit shares. Compensation expense related
to our restricted stock grants and deposit share purchases
was $127, $106 and $76 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Our historical approach to long-term incentives has been
primarily through the issuance of stock options. However,
beginning in fiscal 2007, we anticipate moving to a blend
of equity grants, under which a combination of steck option
awards and restricted stock or restricted stock units are
anticipated heing granted. We anticipate that both the stock
options and the restricted stock or restricted stock units
will vest equally over a four-year period, with first vesting
on the anniversary of the grant date, and with stock options
continuing to have a ten-year contractual term.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2000, Cabot Microelectronics adopted an employee
stock purchase plan (ESPP) and authorized up to 475,000
shares of common stock to be purchased under the plan.
The ESPP allows all full and certain part-time employees

of Cabot Microelectronics and its subsidiaries to purchase
shares of our commeon stock through payroll deductions.
Employees can elect to have up to 10% of their annual earn-
ings withheld to purchase our stock, subject to a maximum
number of shares that a participant may purchase and a max-
imum dollar expenditure in any six-month offering period,
and certain other criteria. The shares are purchased at a price
equal to the lower of 85% of the closing price at the begin-
ning or end of each semi-annual stock purchase period.
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A total of 49,319, 42,879, and 32,740 shares were issued
under the ESPP during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. Compensation expense related to the ESPP was $344
in fiscal 2006. Prior to fiscal 2006. no compensation expense
was recorded under the ESPP, in accordance with APB 25,

Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan

The Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan became effective
in March 2001 and applies only to our non-employee direc-
tors. In June 2003. this plan was amended to require that
payment of deferred amounts be made only in the form of
Cabot Microelectronics common shares. rather than cash.
The cumulative number of shares deferred under the plan
was 26,436 and 17.161 as of September 30, 2006 and 20035,
respectively. Compensation expense related to our Directors’
Deferred Compensation Plan was $367, $224 and $270 for
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Accounting for share-based compensalion
In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123R, effective
October 1. 2005, we applied the provisions of SAB No. 107,
“Sharc-Based Payments” (SAB 107), in developing our
methodology to estimate our Black-Scholes model inputs.
A number of these inputs are highly subjective, including the
expected term of our stock options and the price volatility
of the underlying stock. Under SFAS 123R. we estimate the
expected volatility of our stock options based on a combina-
tion of our stock’s historical volatility and the implied
volatilitics from actively-traded options on our stock. Prior
to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we estimated oxpected
volatility based only on our stock’s historical volatility in
accordance with SFAS 123 for purposes of our pro forma
disclosure. We believe that implied volatility is more reflec-
tive of market conditions; however, due to the shorter length
in term of the actively-traded options on our stock, we
believe it to be appropriate to use a blended assumption for
our stack options. In addition, we have updated our stock
option expected term assumption by adopting SAB 107’s
simplified method. due to our limited amount of historical
option exercise data. This method uses an average of the
vesting and contractual terms.

The fair value of our share-based awards was estimated,
assuming no expected dividends. using the Black-Scholes
model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Stock oplions:
Expected term (in years) 6.25 5 5
Expected volatility 56% 70% 71%
Risk-free rate of return 4.5% 3.6% 3.3%
ESPFP:
Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5 05
Expected volatility 33% 30% 58%
Risk-free rate of return 4.9% 3.25% 20%
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The Black-Scholes model is primarily used in estimating
the fair value of short-lived exchange traded options that have
no vesling restrictions and are fully transferable. Because
employee stock oplions and employee stock purchases have
certain characteristics that are significantly diiferent from
traded options, and because changes in the subjective
assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, our
use of the Black-Scholes model for estimating the fair value
of stock options and employee stock purchases may not
provide an accurate measure. Although the value of our
stock options and employee stock purchases are determined
in accordance with SFAS 123R and SAB 107 using an option-
pricing model, those values may not be indicative of the
fair values obhserved in a willing buver/willing seller market
transaction,

The table below reflects net income and earnings per share
for fiscal 2006, compared with the pro forma information far
fiscal 2005 and 2004, as follows:

Year ended Sepiember 30,

2006 2005 2004°

Net incame prior 10 adoption

of SFAS 123R N/A $32.473 $46,728
Share-based compensation

expense $10,664 53,054 27130
Tax benefit (3.809) {16,022) (8,980}
Share-based compensation
expense, net of tax 6,855 37,032 18,150
Net income (loss), including
the effect of share-based
compensation expense $32,948 ${(4.559) $28,578
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic-as reported for the prior
period N/A $1.32 $3.80
Basic-including the effect
of share-based compensation
expense $1.36 $(0.19) $1.15
Diluted-as reported for the
prior period N/A $1.32 $1.88
Diluted-including the effect
of share-based compensation
expense $1.36 $(0.19) $1.15

* Net income and earnings per share prior to fiscal 2006 did not include
share-based compensation expense associated with empioyes stock
oplions and employee stock purchases under SFAS 123 because
we did not adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS 123. Accordingly,
share-based cormpensation expense prior to fiscal 2006 is calculated
based on the pro forma appfication of SFAS 123.

Pro-forma share-based compensation expense in fiscal 2005
includes the effect of accelerating the vesting of approximaloly
1.3 million options to September 1, 2005, that had option
prices greater than $34.65 as of September 27, 2004. The
acceleration enabled us to eliminate the recognition of share-
based compensation expense associated with these “oul-of-
the-money” options in our consolidated financial statements
upon the adoption of SFAS 123R in October 2005, contribut-
ing to the reduction of share-based compensation expense




in fiscal 2006, The costs presented in the preceding table may
not be representative of the total effects on reported income
for future years. Factors that may impact future years include,
but are not limited to, changes to our historical approaches
to long-term incentives such as described above, the timing
and number of additional grants of stock option awards, the

vesting period and contractual term of stock option awards
and types of equity awards granted. Further, share-based
compensation may be impacted by changes in the fair value
of future awards through variables such as fluctuations in and
volatility of our stock price, as well as changes in employse
exercise behavior and forfeiture rates.

Stock option activity

A summary of stock option activity under the Plan as of September 30, 2006, and changes during the fiscal 2006

is presented below:

Weighted average Weighted average remaining Aggregale intrinsic value

Stock opticns exercise price contractual term {in thousands)
Quistanding at September 30, 2005 4,181,529 $48.84
Granted 984,090 3060
Exercised - -
Forfeited or canceled {797,960} 80.67
Outstanding at September 30, 2006 4,367,659 $44.40 6.9 §2
Exercisable at September 30, 2006 2,625,410 $51.60 5.7 $1

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents
the total pretax intrinsic value (i.e., the difference between
our closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2006
and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of shares)
that would have been received by the option holders had all
option holders exercised their options on the last trading day
of fiscal 2006. The total intrinsic value of options exercised
was $0, $4,462 and $2.651 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

The total cash received from options exercised was $0,
$5,655 and $2.232 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from
options exercised was $0, $1,651 and $981 for fiscal 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. Using the Black-Scholes model,
the weighted-average fair value of stock options granted was
$17.85, $22.30 and $29.60 per share for fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

A summary of the status of the nonvested stock options
outstanding under the Plan as of September 30, 2006, and
changes during fiscal 2006 is presented below:

Weighted
average grant

Stock opticns date fair value

Nonvested at September 30, 2005 1,194,850 $22.19
Granted 984,090 17.85
Vested (297,950} 22,13
Forfeited (138,741} 20.24

Nonvested at September 30, 2006 1,742,249 $19.90

As of September 30, 2006, there was $23,886 of lotal
unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to
nonvested stock options granted under the Plan. That cost
is expected to be recognized over a weighled-average period
of 2.6 years. The total fair values of shares vested during fiscal
year 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $6,594, $66,365 and $23,746,
respeclively. Shares issued under our share-based compensa-
tion plans are issued from new shares.

Note 11. Savings plan

Effective in May 2000, we adopted the Cabot Microelectronics
Corpaoration 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plan”), which is a qual-
ified defined contribution plan, covering all eligible U.S.
employees meeting cerlain minimum age and eligibility
requirements, as defined by the 401(k) Plan. Participants may
make elective contributions up to 60% of their eligible
compensation. All amounts contributed by participants and
earnings on these contributions are fully vested at all times.
The 401(k) Plan provides for matching and fixed nonelective
contributions by the Company. Under the 401(k) Plan, the
Company will match 100% of the first four percent of the
participant’s eligible compensation and 50% of the next two

percent of the participant’s eligible compensation that is
contributed, subject to limitations required by government
regulations. Under the 401(k) Plan. all U.S. employees, even
those who do not contribute to the 401(k) Plan, will receive
a contribution by the Company in an amount equal to four
percent of eligible compensation, and thus are participants
in the 401(k) Plan. Participants are 100% vested in all
Company contributions at all times. The Company’s expense
for the 401(k} Plan totaled $3,170, $2,907 and $2,696 for
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
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Note 12. QOther income, net
Other income, net, consisted of the following:

Note 14. Income taxes
Income before income taxes was as follows:

Year ended September 30,

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Interest income 55,394 $3,438 $1,405 Domestic $39,759 $42,333 $63,707
Interest expense (690) (619) (743) Foreign 8,765 4,180 6,141
Other expense (593) (72) (523) Total $48 524 $46.523 $69.848
Total other income, net $4.111 $2,747 $ 139

Note 13. Stockholders’ equity

Common stock

Each share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote
on all matters submitted to a vote of Cabot Microelectronics’
stockholders. Common stockholders are entitled to receive
ratably the dividends, if any, as may be declared hy the
Board of Directors. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding
up of Cabot Microelectronics, the common stockholders wil!
be entitled to share, pro ratably, in the distribution of assets
available after satisfaction of all liabilities and liquidation
preferences of preferred stockholders, if any. The number of
authorized shares of common stock is 200,000.000 shares.

Stockholder Rights Plan

In March 2000 the Board of Directors of Cabol Microelectron-
ics approved a stock rights agreement and declared a dividend
distribution of one right to purchase one one-thousandth of
a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock for
cach outstanding share of common stock to stockholders of
record on April 7, 2000. The rights become exercisable based
upon certain limited conditions related 1o acquisitions of
stock, tender offers and certain business combination trans-
actions.

Share repurchases

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 20035, we completed our $25,000
share repurchase program, which was announced in July
2004. in QOctober 2005 we announced that cur Board of
Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up
1o $40,000 of our outstanding common stock. Shares are
repurchased from time to time, depending on market condi-
tions, in open market transactions, at management's discre-
tion. We fund share repurchases from our existing cash bal-
ance. We view the program as an effective means by which
to return cash to shareholders. The program, which became
affective on the authorization date, may be suspended or
terminaled at any time, at the Company’s discretion. During
fiscal 2006, we repurchased 523,147 shares of common stock
at a cost of $15,996. For additional information on share
repurchases. see “ltem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common
Equity. Related Stockholdor Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities”.
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Taxes on income consisted of the following:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
1.8, federal and state:
Current $16,645 $13,220 $19,564
Deferred (5,714) (1,353) 649
Total $10,931 $11,867 $20,213
Foreign:
Current $ 4,388 $ 2529 $ 2,790
Deferred 257 (346) 117
Total 4,645 2,183 2,807
Total U.S. and foreign §15,576 $14,050 $23.120

The provision for income taxes at our effective tax rate
differed from the provision for income laxes at the statutory
rate as follows:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
U.5. benefits from research

and experimentation activities {0.2) {1.2) (1.2)
State taxes, net of federal effect 0.7 0.7 1.1
U.S. benefits from foreign sales - {2.1) (1.4)
Tax-exempt interest income (3.7) (2.4} -
Domestic production deduction {0.4) - -
Other, net 0.7 0.2 {0.4)
Provision for income taxes 32.1% 30.2% 33.1%




Significant components of deferred income taxes were
as follows:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005
Deferred tax assels:
Employee benefits $1,410 $1,318
Inventory 1,111 1,884
Depreciation and amortization 305 128
Product warranty 368 543
Bad debt reserve 193 164
State and local taxes 146 93
Share-based compensation expense 3,559 -
Other, net 373 330
Total deferred tax assets $7,465 $4,460
Deferred tax fiabilities:
Depreciation and amortization $2,630 $5,118
Translation adjustment 72 539
State and local taxes 76 133
Other, net 886 396
Total deferred tax liabilities $3,664 $6,188

Note 15. Commitments and contingencies

Legal proceedings

We periodically become subject to legal proceedings in the
ordinary course of business. We are not currently involved
in any legal proceedings that we believe will have a material
impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Product warranties

We maintain a warranty reserve that reflects management’s
best estimate of the cost to replace product that does not
meet customers’ specifications and performance require-
ments, and costs related to such replacement. The warranty
reserve is based upon a historical product replacement rate,
adjusted for any specific known conditions or circumstances.
Adjustments to the warranty reserve are recorded in cost

of goods sold. Our warranty reserve requirements changed
during fiscal 2006 as follows:

Balance as of September 3G, 2005 $1.426
Additions charged (o expense 415
Additions due to acquisitions 32
Deductions {949)
Balance as of September 30, 2006 $ 924

Indemnification
In the normal course of business, we are a party to a variety

of agreements pursuant to which we may be obligated to
indemnify the other party with respect to certain matters.
Generally, these obligations arise in the context of agreements
entered into by us, under which we customarily agree to hold
the other party harmless against losses arising from items
such as a breach of certain representations and covenants
including title to assets sold, certain intellectual property

rights and certain environmental matters. These terms are
common in the industries in which we conduct business.
In each of these circumstances, payment by us is subject to
certain monetary and other limitations and is conditioned
on the other party making an adverse claim pursuant to

the procedures specified in the particular agreement, which
typically allow us to challenge the other party’s claims.

We evaluate estimated losses for such indemnifications
under SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies™ as inter-
preted by FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others” We consider such factors as the
degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.
To date, we have not experienced material costs as a result
of such obligations and as of September 30, 2006, have not
recorded any liabilities related to such indemnifications in
our financial statements as we do not believe the likelihood
of a material obligation is probable.

Lease commitments

We lease certain vehicles, warehouse facilities, office space,
machinery and equipment under cancelable and noncance-
lable leases, most of which expire within five years from now
and may be renewed by us. Rent expense under such arrange-
ments during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 totaled $1,221, $637
and $624, respectively.

In December 2001 we entered into a fumed alumina
supply agreement with Cabot Corporation under which we
agreed to pay Cabot Corporation for the expansion of a fumed
alumina manufacturing facility in Tuscola, Illinois. The pay-
ments for the facility have been treated as a capital lease for
accounting purposes and the present value of the minimum
quarterly payments resulted in an initial §9,776 lease obliga-
tion and related leased asset. The agreement has an initial
five-year term, which expires in December 2006, and has been
renewed for another five-year term ending in December 2011,

Future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable
leases as of September 30, 2006 are as follows:

Fiscal year Operating Capital
2007 $1,328 $1,705
2008 Sals] 1,365
2009 269 1,344
2010 64 1,344
2011 11 1,008
Thereafter - -

$2,588 6,766
Amount related to interest (1.092}
Capital lease obligation $5.674
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Purchase obligations

Purchase obligations include our take-or-pay arrangements
with suppliers, and purchase orders and other obligations
entered into in the normal course of business regarding the
purchase of goods and services.

We operate under a fumed silica supply agreement with
Cabot Corporation under which we are obligated to purchase
fumed silica for at least 90% of our six-month volume fare-
cast for certain of our slurry products, and to purchase cer-
tain non-material minimum quantities every six months. We
are required to pay for the shortfall if we purchase less than
these amounts. This agreement has an initial six-year term,
which expires in December 2009 and will automatically
renow unless cither party gives certain notice of non-renewal.
We currently anticipate meeting minimum forecasted pur-
chase volurmne requirements. We also operate under a fumed
alumina supply agreement with Cabot Corporation, which
runs through December 2001, Purchase obligations include
522,003 of contractual comrmitments for fumed silica and
fumed alumina under these contracts.

Note 16. Earnings per share

SFAS No.128, “Earnings per Share’; requires companies to
provide a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of
the basic and diluted earnings per share computations. Basic
and diluted earnings per share were calculated as follows:

Year ended September 30,
2006 2005 2004

Numerator:

Earnings available to

common shares $32,948 $32,473 $46,728

Denominator:

Weighted average

common shares 24,228,118 24562581 24,749,531

{Denominator for basic
calculation)

Weighted average effect
of dilutive securities:

Share-based

compensation 268 49,881 132,909

Diluted weighted average
common shares

(Denominator for diluted
catculation)

24,228,386 24612462 24,882,440

Earnings per share:
Basic $1.36 $1.32 $1.89

Diluted $1.36 $1.32 $1.88

For the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, 2005,
and 2004, approximately 4.2 million, 3.8 million and 3.0
million shares, respectively, attributable 1o outstanding stock
options were excluded from the calculation of diluted earn-
ings per share because their inclusion would have been
antidilutive,
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Note 17. Financial information by industry segment and
geographic area
We operate predominantly in one industry segment—the
development, manufacture, and sale of CMP slurries.
Revenues are attribuled to the United States and foreign
regions based upon the customer location and not the geo-
graphic location from which our products were shipped.
Financial information by geographic area was as follows:

Year ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Revenue:
United States $ 65,951 $ 60,089 $ 78,093
Asia 226,520 186,054 200,356
Europe 28,324 24,341 30,984
Total $320,795 $270,484 $309,433
Property, piant and
equipment, nel:
United States $ 82,855 $ §7.378 $ 94,802
Asia 45,609 46,385 30,684
Europe 1,712 2,021 2,308
Total $130,176 $135,784 $127,794

Revenue from Taiwan and Japan each accounted for more
than ten percent of our total revenue. Our revenue from
customers in Taiwan totaled $87,834. $77,373 and $86,283 for
fiscal 2006. 2005 and 2004, respectively. Our revenue from
customers in Japan totaled $43,627, $38,605 and $44,872 for
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respeclively.

More than ten percent of our net property, plant and equip-
ment is located in Japan, having a net book value of $40,298,
$44,333 and $30,243 at September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.




Selected Quarterly Qperating Resulis

The following table presents our unaudited financial infor-
mation for the eight quarters ended September 30, 2006. This
unaudited financial information has been prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, applied on a basis consistent with
the annual audited financial statements and in the opinion
of management, include all necessary adjustments, which

Cabot Microelectronics Corporation

consist only of normal recurring adjustments necessary to
present fairly the financial results for the periods. The results
for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for
any future period. Certain reclassifications of prior fiscal
quarter amounts have been made to conform to the current
period presentation.

Unaudited and in thousands, September 30, June 30, March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31, Oecember 31,
except per share amounts 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 2005 2004
Revenue $86,982 $84,936 $67,389 $81,488 $73,861 $65,037 $64,502 $67,084
Cost of goods sold 48,328 44,524 35,855 43,051 39,234 33,843 34,733 33,472
Gross profit 38,654 40,412 31,534 38,437 34,627 31,194 29,769 33812
Operating expenses:
Research, development

and technical 13,030 12,060 11,321 11,659 12,147 10,462 10,857 9,544
Selling and marketing 5,528 5,486 5,075 5,026 4,863 3,938 4012 4176
General and adminisirative 8,556 9,105 8,244 8,414 7.029 6.191 6,542 5,665
Purchased in-process research

and development 1,120 - - - - - - -
Total operating expenses 28,234 26,651 24,640 25,099 24,039 20,591 21,411 19,385
Operating income 10,420 13,761 6,894 13,338 10,588 10,603 8,358 14,227
Other income, net 1,541 764 1,090 716 833 960 458 487
income before income taxes 11,961 14,525 7,983 14,054 11,421 11,572 8816 14,714
Provision for income taxes 3,803 4,743 2,547 4,483 3169 3,234 2,762 4,885
Net income $ 8,158 $ 9,782 $ 5,437 $ 9,571 $ 8,252 $ 8338 $ 6,054 $ 9,829
Basic earnings per share $§ 034 $ 040 $ 022 $ 039 $ 034 $ 034 $ 025 $ 040
Weighted average basic

shares outstanding 24,087 24,205 24,233 24,363 24,459 24,609 24,642 24,638
Diluted garnings per share $ 034 $ 040 $ 022 $ 0.39 $ 034 $ 034 $ 025 $ 040
Weighted average diluted

shares outstanding 24,087 24,205 24,233 24,363 24,460 24610 24,685 24,721

2006 CMC 43



Schedule Il. Valuation and Qualitying Accounts -

The following table sets forth activities in our allowance for
doubtful accounts:

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Additions

Balance at  {deduclions) Balance
beginning charged 10 at end of
of year axpenses  Deductions year

Year ended:
September 30, 2006 $470 §$92 s(1) $551
September 30, 2005 598 (65) {63) 470
September 30, 2004 585 44 (31) 598

We maintain a warranty reserve that reflects management’s
best estimate of the cost to replace product that does not meet
customers’ specifications and performance requirements,
and costs related to such replacement. The warranty reserve
is based upon a historical product replacement rate, adjusted

for any specific known conditions or circumstances. Adjust-
ments to the warranty reserve are recorded in cost of goods
sold. Charges to expenses and deductions, shown below,
represent the net change required to maintain an appropriate
reserve. Prior years have been revised to conform to current
year presentation.

Warranly reserves

Balance Addiuons

at  charged Additions Balance
beginning Hol dueto Deduc- atend
of year expenses acquisiticns tions  of year

Year ended:
September 30, 2006 $1,426 $415 $32 §{949) s 924
September 30, 2005 952 687 - (213) 1426
September 30, 2004 836 747 - (631) 952

Management Responsibility )

The accompanying consolidated financial stalements were
prepared by the Company in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Company’s management is responsible for the integrity
of these statements and of the underlying data, estimates
and judgments.

The Company’s management ostablishes and maintains
a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide
reasonable assurance that its assets are safeguarded from loss
or unauthorized use, that transactions are properly author-
ized and recorded, and that financial records can be relied
upon for the preparation of the consolidated linancial state-
ments. This system includes written policies and procedures.
a code of business conduct and an organizational structure
that provides for appropriate division of responsibility and
the training of personnel. This system is monitored and eval-
uated on an ongoing basis by management in conjunction
with its internal audit function.

The Company’'s management assesses the effectiveness
of its internal control over financial reporting on an annual
basis. In making this assessment, management uses the crite-
ria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework. Management acknowledges, however, that all
internal conirol systems, no matter how well designed, have
inherent limitations and can provide only reasonable assur-
ance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation.

In addition, the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm conducts an objective assessment of the
degree to which management meels its responsibility for fair-

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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ness of financial reporting and issues an altestation report
on the adequacy of management'’s assessment. It evaluales
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and
performs such tests and other procedures as it deems neces-
sary to reach and express an opinion on the fairness of the
financial statements.

In addition, the Audit Committee of the Board of Dircclors
provides general oversight responsibility for the linancial
statements. Composed entirely of Directors who are inde-
pendent and not employees of the Company. the Committee
meels periodically with the Company’s management, internal
auditors and the independent registered public accounting
firm to review the quality of financial reporting and internal
controls, as well as results of the auditing efforts. The inter-
nal auditors and independent registered public accounting
firm have full and direct access to the Audit Commitiee.
with and without management present.

/s/ William P. Noglows

William P. Noglows
Chiefl Executive Officer

/s/ William S. johnson

William S. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer

/s!/ Thomas S. Roman

Thomas 5. Roman
Principal Accounting Officer




iteen 9A. Controls and Disclosures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Cur management, with the participation of our Chief Execu-
tive Officer (CEQ) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), has
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(“the Exchange Act”)), as of September 30, 2006. Based on
that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be dis-
closed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized and reporled within the time periods specified
by the SEC, and that material information relating to the
Company is made known to senior management, including
the CEQ and CFQ, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

While we believe the present design of our disclosure
controls and procedures is effective enough to make known
lo our senior management in a timely fashion all material
information concerning our business, we intend to continue
to improve the design and effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures to the extent necessary in the future
to provide our senior management with timely access to
such material information, and lo correct any deficiencies
that we may discover in the future, as appropriate.

Management’s report on internal control over financial
reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and main-
taining adequate internal control over financial reporting for
the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is
dofined in Rule 13a-15(f) or Rule 15d-15(f} promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by,
or under the supervision of, the Company’s CEO and CFO

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
our financial reporting and the preparation of financial state-
ments for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United Stales of
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes
policies and procedures that: pertain to the maintenance of
racords that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect
our transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets;
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary for preparation of our financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures
of Company assets are made in accordance with management
authorization; and provide reasonable assurance that unau-
thorized acquisition, use or disposilion of Company assets
that could have a materiat effect on our financial statements
would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial report-

ing may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the rigsk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management evaluated the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comumission.
Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that
the Company's internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of September 30, 2006. PricewalerhouseCoopers
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has
audited this assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of September 30,
20086, as stated in their report which is included at the begin-
ning of Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent limitations on effectiveness of controls

Because of inherent limitations. our disclosure contrals or
our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent
all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system
are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect
the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty,
and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error

or mistake. Additicnally, controls can be circumvented by
the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or
more people or by management override of the controls.
The design of any system of controls also is based in part
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential
future conditions; over time, controls may become inade-
quate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART 1l

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant |

The information required by ltem 10 of Form 10-K with
respect {o identification of directors, the existence of a sepa-
rately-designated standing audit committee, identification of
members of such committee and identification of an audit
committee financial expert is incorporated by reference from
the information contained in the scctions captioned “Election
of Directors™ and “Board Structure and Compensation”™ in
Cabot Microelectronics' definitive Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held March 6, 2007
(the “Proxy Statement”). In addition, for information with
respect Lo the executive officers of Cabot Microelectronics,
see “Executive Officers™ at the end of Part T of this Form 10-K
and the section captioned “Section 16(a) Beneficial Owner-

Item 11. Executive Compensalion

ship Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement. Infor-
mation required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporated
by reference from the information contained in the section
caplioned “Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.

We have adopted a code of business conduct for all of our
emplayces and directors, including our principal exccutive
officer, other executive officers, principal financial officer
and senior financial personnel. A copy of our code of business
conduct is available free of charge on our Company websile
at www.cabolemp.com. We intend Lo post an our website
any material changes to, or waivers from our code of business
conduct, if any, within two days of any such event.

P

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained
in the section captioned “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

Equity compensation plan information

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockbolder Matters

Shown below is information as of September 30, 2006, with respect to the shares of common stock that may be issued
under Cabot Microelectronics’ existing equity compensation plans.

Number of securities t¢

be issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Plan category

{a) (0} (c}
Weighted-average Number of securities remaining
exercise price of available for future issuance under
outstanding options, equily compensation plans (excluding
warrantg and rights securities reflected in column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 4,373,397 $44.40 3.943,41207)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders - - -
Total 4,373,397 $44.40 3,943,412

(1) includes 211,892 shares available for future issuance under our Employee Stock Purchase Pian.

The other information required by ltem 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information
contained in the section captioned “Stock Ownership” in the Proxy Statement.

ftem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions I

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained
in the section captioned “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™ in the Proxy Slatement.

[tem 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services |

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained
in the section caplioned “Fees of Independent Auditors and Audit Committee Report™ in the Proxy Statement.
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PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule are included in Item 8 herein:

1. Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Regislered Public Accounling Finm
Consolidated Statements of Income for the vears ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended Seplember 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule:
Schedule [[—Valuation and Qualifving Accounts

3. Exhibits:
The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Report on Form 10-K:
Exhibit
number Description
3.2 (1) Amended and Restated By-Laws of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation.
3.3 (1) Form of Amended and Restated Cerlificate of Incorporation of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation.
3.4(2) Form of Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.
4.1 (2] Form of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Common Stock Certificate.

4.2 (3) Rights Agreement.

4.3 (4) Amendment to Rights Agreement.

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan,
as amended and restated September 26, 2006.*

10.2 (12) Form of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan
Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement (directors).*

10.4 Form of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan
Non-Qualified Stock Optien Grant Agreecment {U.S. employees {including executive officers)).*

10.5 Form of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (employees (including executive officers)).*

10.15 (7) Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended.*
10.22 (8) Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 401(k) Plan, as amended.*

10.23 {(5) Form of Change in Control Severance Protection Agreement, **

10.28 Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended Seplember 26, 2006.*

10.29 (9) Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated November 24, 2003 among Cabot Microelectronics
Corporation, Various Financial Institutions and LaSalle Bank National Association, as Administrative Agent,
and National City Bank of Michigan/Illinois, as Syndication Agent.

10.30 (6) Form of Deposit Share Agreement.***

10.31 {6) Amendment No. 1 to Fumed Metal Oxide Agreement, between Cabot Microelectronics Corporation
and Cabot Corporation.*

10.32 (6) Fumed Alumina Supply Agreement.t

10.33 (7) Adoption Agreemont, as amended, of Cabot Microelectronics Carporation Supplemental Employee
Retirement Plan.*

10.34 (14) Code of Business Conduct.
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(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6}

10.36 (9) Directors’ Cash Compensation Umbrella Program.*

10.37 {10} Employment and Transition Agreement dated November 3, 2003.*
10.38 (10) Employment Offer Letter dated November 2, 2003.*

10.39 (10) Employment Offer Letter dated November 17, 2003.*

10.40 (11) Amendment No. 2 to Fumed Metal Oxide Agreement, between Cabot Microelectronics Corporation
and Cabot Corporation.

10.41 {(11) Amendment No. 3 to Fumed Metal Oxide Agreement, between Cabot Microelectronics Corporation
and Cabot Corporation.

10.42 (11) Fumed Silica Supply Agreement.*
10.43 (11) General Release, Waiver and Covenant Not to Sue.*

10.44 (13) Amendment as of January 17, 2005 to Four Granl Agreements for Non-Qualified Stock Option Awards
with Grant Dates of March 13, 2001, March 12, 2002, March 11, 2003 and March 9, 2004, respectively.”

10.45 (13) Amendment as of January 29, 2005 to Three Grant Agreements for Non-Qualified Stock Option Awards
with Granl Dates of March 13, 2001, March 12, 2002 and March 11, 2003, respectively.”

10.46 (13) Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Summary as of March, 2005.*

10.47 {15) Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Cabot Microelectronic Corporation, QED Technologies
International, Inc., QED Technologies, Inc., Don Golini and Lowell Mintz dated June 15, 2006.

10.48 (15) Technology Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 15, 2006 by and among Cabot Microelectronics
Corporation, QED Technologies International, Inc., and Byelocorp Scientific, Inc.

10.49 Amendment No. 1 to Fumed Silica Supply Agreement, between Cabot Microelectronics Corporation
and Cabot Corporation.*+

211 Subsidiaries of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation.

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1 Power of Attorney.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

321 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002,

Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-95093) filed with the Commission on March 27, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-95093) filed with the Commission on April 3, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1
(No. 333-95093) filed with the Commission on April 4, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on October 6, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant'’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
{No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on December 28, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on February 12, 2002,
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{(7) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on May 13, 2002.

(8) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Repaort on Form 10-(}
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on February 12, 2003,

(9) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on December 10, 2003.

{10) Filed as an exhibit 1o, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on February 12, 2004.

{11) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on May 7, 2004.

{12) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on December 8, 2004,

(13} Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on May 9, 2005.

(14) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorparated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
[(No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on December 7, 2005.

{15) Filed as an exhibit to, and incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q3
{No. 000-30205) filed with the Commission on August 9, 2006.
*  Management contract, or compensatory plan or arrangement.

**  Substantially similar change in control severance protection agreements have heen entered into with

William P. Noglows, H. Carol Bernstein, Jean Pol Delrue, William S. Johnson, Daniel ], Pike, Thomas S. Roman,

Stephen R. Smith, Clifford L. Spiro, Adam F. Weisman and Daniel S, Wobby, with differences only in the
amount of payments and benefits to be received by such persons.

*** Substantially similar deposit share agreements have been entered into with H, Carel Bernstein, William S. Johnsan,
William P. Noglows, Daniel ]. Pike, Clifford L. Spiro and Daniel S. Wobhy with differences only in the amount of initial

deposit made and deposit shares purchased by such persons.

+  This Exhibit has been filed separately with the Commission pursuant to the grant of a confidential treatment request.

The confidential portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and are marked by an asterisk.

++ This Exhibit has been filed separately with the Commission pursuant to the submission of a confidential treatment

request. The confidential portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and are marked by an asterisk.
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Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized:

Cabot Microelectronics Corporation

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ William P. Noglows

William P. Noglows
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
[Principal Executive Officer]

Date: November 29, 2006 fs/ William S. Johnson

William 3. Johnson
Vice President. Chief Financial Officer
[Principal Financiat Officer]

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ Thomas S. Roman

Thomas 3. Roman
Corporate Controfler
[Principal Accounting Officer}

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ William P. Noglows

William P, Noglows
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
[Director]

Date: Novernber 29, 2006 /s/ Robert ]. Birgeneau®

Robert J. Birgeneau
[Director]

Date: November 29, 2006 /s!/ John P. Frazee, Jr.*

John P. Frazee, Jr.
[Direclor]

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ H. Laurance Fuller*

H. Laurance Fuller
[Director]

Date: Novermiber 29, 2006 /s/  Edward ]. Mooney*

Edward J. Mooney
[Director}

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ Steven V. Wilkinson*

Steven V. Wilkinson
[Director}

Date: November 29, 2006 /sf Albert Y.C. Yu*

Albert Y.C. Yu
[Director]
* by H. Carol Bernstein as Atlorney-in-fact pursuant to the requirermnents
of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
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Exhibit 31.1. Cerlitication

I, William P. Noglows. Chief Executive Officer of Cabot Microelectronics Carporation, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the finaricial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, resulls of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that malterial information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

{c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

{d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materiaily affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and malerial weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: Navember 29, 2006 /s/ William P. Noglows

William P. Noglows
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2. Certification

I, William S. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation, certify that:

1.

2,

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to slate a malerial
fact necessary 1o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements. and other financial information included in this roport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known 1o us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision. to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the cffectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over {inancial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting: and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluiation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information: and

(b) Any fraud. whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ William 8. Johnson

William 3. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1. Certification Pursuant 1o 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hercof (the “Report”),
each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: November 29, 2006 /s/ William P. Noglows

William P. Noglows
Chief Executive Officer

Date: Novamber 29, 2006 /s/ William S. Johnson

William S. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
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Our product lines

tungsten

coppet

Our tungsten slurries are used
to polish tungsten in semicon-
ductor chips used mainly in
mature logic applications such
as for automotive uses and in
chipsets, and in memory. includ-
ing MPJ players, cellphones,
gaming devices and digital
video recorders. Our next gener-
ation slurries are lunable, allow-
ing customers greater flexibility,
improved performance and a
rectuced cost of ownership.

gSemi-Sperse’

dielectrics

These products are used to pol-
ish the oxide layers of a semi-
conductor chip. These layvers
insulate the wiring layers in
both logie and moemory chips.
Our Semi-Sperse® product line
was a pioncer solution for
polishing oxide at 250nm. and,
with our updated technology,
vontinuus to bo used at
advanced nodes. The SiLECT®
product line. which uses an
innovative abrasive, was devel-
aped to meot the needs of 9onm
and 65nm technologies, Our
newest line, iDIEL®. is used for
advanced applications and can
provide significant advantages
in reducing defects,

§Serm-5perse‘
SilHV
IEL
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The iCUE® line of copper and
barricr slurries are used for pol-
ishing the most advanced logic
chips. such as microprocessors
used in computers, graphic sys-
tems, gaming systems and com-
munication devices. We supply
slurries that polish the copper
films, as well as those that pol-
ish the barrier and advanced
low K dielectric materials that
separuice the individunl copper
lines. Qur iCUE products are
used across the globe in
advanced integrated circuit
manufacturing for technology
nodes from 180nm to 45nm.

iCue

data storage

Used in polishing magnetic
heads and hard disks, our slur-
ries are designed to significantly
improve the surface finish and
planarity of hard disk drive
compaonents, enabling greater
storage capacity.

Lustra=
TRACSAE

polishing pads

Our Epic® D100 pad is used to
polish semiconductor devices
during CMP processing. Able to
polish either 200mm or 300mm
walers, and for use on copper.
wngsten and dielectric applica-
tions, the propertios of the pad
material offer enhanced perforim-
ance anc longer pad life. Our
continuous pad manufacturing
process offers improved consis-
teney across an individual pad
and from pad 1o pad. The end
result offers lower cost of own-
ership to the customer,

Epic )

engineered surface finishes
{ESF)® growth initiative

Through ESF, the company is
leveraging its expertise in CMP
formulativn. materials and pol-
ishing techniques for the semi-
conductor industry 1o address
other demanding market appli-
cations requiring sub-nanometer
control of surface shape and
finish.

The Surface Finishes® business
offers highly specialized optical
pulishing, low-stress grinding,
lapping and other custom fabri-
cation services for applications
requiring extremely fine finishes
to mect the most challenging
specifications.

%)

QED Technologies® polishes
optics for high precision appli-
cations using these tools:
Magneto-Itheological

Finishing (MRF)®

This system has the unique
ability to predictively improve
both shape and surface finish
simultaneously. MRF is widely
acknowledged as the best-in-
class technology for final
figuring of the highest precision
optics.

Subaperture Stitching
Interferametry (SSI)®
Interfervmeters measure the sur-
face of an vptic and traditionally
are limited by the size and pre-
cision of the reference optic
used. 88l is designed Lo remove
those barricrs. giving the user an
accurate, complete map of the
optical surface, This map is
needed to produce the highest
precision optics to the most
exacling tolerances. In combina-
tion with MRF, 881 enables the
transition from time-consuming,
costly, labor-intensive processes
to repeatable, efficient automa-
tion in producing precision
optical surfaces.

QEDes

Technotogies'
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Leadership team and officers

William P. Noglows

Cheirman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

H. Carol Bernstein

Vice President. Secretaryv and
General Counsel

Yumiko Damashek
Managing Director, Jupon

James Delloniesto
Chief Information Officer

Jean Pol Delrue

Vice President. Global Sales

William S. Johnseon
Viee Prosident and
Chief Financial Gfficer

Daniel . Pike
Vice President,
Corporate Development

Thomas S. Roman

Corporate Controfler

Stephen R. Smith
Vice President. Marketing

Clifford L. Spiro
Vice President.
Roescarch and Development

Carmelina M. Stoklosa

Treasurer and Director, Finanece

Adam F. \WWeisman

Vice President, Business Operations

Daniel 5. Wobby

Vice: President, Asia Pacific Region

Board of directors

William P, Noglows

Chairman

Prosident and Chief Executive Officer,
Cabol Micraclectronics Corporation

Robert J. Birgeneau
Chancellor. University of California,
Berkeley

John P. Frazee. Jr.

Fermer Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. Centel Corporation

H. Laurance Fuller
Former Co-Chainman, BP Amaoco PLC

Edward J. Mooney

Former Chairmarn and Chief Executive
Officer. Nalco Chemical Company

Steven V. Wilkinson
Former Partner, Arthur Andersen LLP

Albert Y.C. Yu
Chairman. OneAngstrom LLC;
Yormer Senior Vieo President,
Intel Corporation

Corporate information
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Cabot Microelecironics Corporalion
870 N, Commons Drive

Aurora I 60504

1.G30.375.6G31 phmm
1.800.811.2756 toil free

1.630.499. 2666 fox
www.cabutemp.com

e B uktn

Contact our offices by mail

at the address above,

by telephone at 1.630.499.2600
or at www.cabotemp.com.

Sont: it iien
Cabot Microeteclronics is traded on
NASDAQ under the svmbol CCMI

B IC RN R N R AR Bl STH
Computershare Trust Company. N.A.
1" Box 41078

PProvidence RI 02940.3078
1.781.575.3400
“'W\'\".C(]Ill'llll(!r.‘ihil[‘l‘..lll)[“

ATl
PricesvaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago 11,

NI Edskdeiils

AR TR 11T

‘The Annual Meeting of Sharehnlders
will be held at 8 a.mn. Central Fime
on March 6. 2007, at Cabot
Microelecirenics Corporation,

870 N. Commons Drive. Aurora 1.

Ay ey

A vopy of the Cabot Microclectronics
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2006,
filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. is cnclosed
and also availablo withoul chirge at
wiww.cabotemp.oons.,




Cabot Microelectronics
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